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01 Hanny Holdings Limited $#EEEAR AT

Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

| have pleasure to present the 2009/2010 annual report of Hanny
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”).

Business and Operations Review
Property development and trading

During the year under review, the Group acquired a subsidiary which
holds a piece of land located in a prime area in Guangzhou for real
estate property development. The Group believes that this project
will deliver attractive returns in the future, both in terms of capital
gain and future recurring income from the leasing of commercial
units and property sales in the long term. The global economy
has been recovering during the year under review. This has had a
positive effect on the Hong Kong and China markets, as can be
seen from the gradually rising stock market in both Hong Kong and
China. The real estate markets in these regions have also bounced
back significantly.

Water supply for industrial use

Although the Group faced challenges in rising costs in raw water,
revenue and earnings derived from the industrial water supply
segment were satisfactory during the year under review. With the
goal of boosting future revenue and earnings, efforts are being
made to negotiating with existing customers to raise selling prices
and entering into further contracts with them to scale up the water
supply in the next few years to meet their development plans. In
addition, the Group is in process of implementing effective costs
controls. Finally, the Group is working on negotiating with the
existing suppliers to maintain the existing cost of raw water. Given
the strong demand of industrial water from the energy and heavy
industries, the Group expects that the industrial water supply
business will continue to grow in the future.
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River sand mining

During the year under review, the revenue grew in a good shape
as the demand for river sand has been increasing. With the tight
control of the major components of the operating costs, namely,
fuel cost and dredger maintenance costs, this segment recorded
a satisfactory EBITDA. However, taking into account of the
depreciation expenses and impairment loss, the results turned into
a loss. In order to achieve better results, the Group will focus on
ensuring that routine maintenance of dredgers and equipment are
carried out and engage technical engineers to monitor the day to
day operations. The Group will continue to work on all measures
towards improving the efficiency of the sand mining operations.

Outlook

Since the financial tsunami in 2008, different quantitative monetary
aid policies have been implemented by different governments
all over the world. This has facilitated the recovery of the global
economy. These global governments have emphasized the need
to maintain such stimulus and it is believe that tightening of the
monetary policy is not imminent. Given the prevailing low interest
rates and lack of confidence in financial products, investors are
turning their focus to real estate properties as a core investment
choice. The property markets in Asia rebounded in the second
half of 2009 in terms of transaction and price. The Group believes
that the success of the Central Government's initiatives combined
with the limited supply of land in prime locations will stabilize the
property market in China and will make the real estate markets
sustainable in the long run. The Group is optimistic that it will be
able to capture capital gains from property investments made in
China.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Recently, the fear of economic overheating in the PRC has caused
the Chinese government to impose a series of fiscal and monetary
measures to combat the threat. In the short run, it will be inevitable
for property and stock markets to undergo a certain amount of
consolidation. However, the Group believes that consolidation will
result in healthier economic growth and a better environment for all
investors.

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to my
fellow board members, the management and employees for their
hard work and contribution to the Group in the past year.

Dr. Yap, Allan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 July 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

Results and financial review

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group’s audited
consolidated profit before minority interests was HK$200.2 million
(2009: loss of HK$1,139.6 million), which mainly comprised of
revenue from water supply business of HK$21.7 million (2009:
HK$17.1 million), revenue from sand mining business of HK$52.8
million (2009: HK$32.2 million), cost of sales of HK$65.3 million
(2009: HK$44.3 million), other income of HK$114.9 million (2009:
HK$133.6 million), administrative expenses of HK$52.5 million
(2009: HK$60.3 million), finance costs of HK$59.7 million (2009:
HK$61.7 million), increase in fair value of conversion options
embedded in convertible notes of HK$0.7 million (2009: decrease
of HK$11.2 million), net gain on investments held for trading
of HK$2.2 million (2009: loss of HK$244.0 million), increase in
fair value of investment properties of HK$63.0 million (2009:
decrease of HK$93.4 million), impairment loss on intangible assets
of HK$19.5 million (2009: HK$12.2 million), impairment loss on
properties, plant and equipment of HK$28.9 million (2009: HK$47.7
million), gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments of
HK$63.0 million (2009: gain of HK$6.1 million), gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$2.0 million (2009: loss of HK$156.2 million), gain
on disposal of an associate of HK$21.7 million (2009: Nil), share of
results of associates of HK$74.3 million (2009: HK$18.8 million) and
income tax credit of HK$9.8 million (2009: HK$33.0 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

While there were decrease in fair value of convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or loss of HK$8.3 million,
gain on convertible notes converted into investments held for
trading of HK$20.8 million, impairment loss on goodwill of HK$19.7
million, impairment loss on available-for-sale investments of
HK$387.1 million, loss on remeasurement to fair value less cost to
sell in respect of disposal group held for sale of HK$255.6 million
for the year ended 31 March 2009, there were no such items for the
year ended 31 March 2010. After take into account share of results
by minority interests, the audited profit for the year attributable to
the equity holders was HK$188.7 million (2009: loss of HK$1,145.2
million) and the basic earnings per share was HK$0.36 (2009: loss
HK$7.56).

Segment Results

For trading of securities, segment turnover amounted to HK$6.3
million, decreasing by HK$375.3 million (98.3%) in 2009 and
segment result recorded profit of HK$2.8 million, increasing by
HK$217.1 million (101.3%) from the segment loss of HK$214.3
million in 2009.

For property development and trading segment, there was no
trading activity during both year.

For sand mining segment, segment revenue amounted to HK$52.8
million, increasing by HK$20.6 million (64.0%) in 2009. Segment
result recorded loss of HK$57.6 million, which is HK$40.5 million
less than the segment loss of HK$98.1 million in 2009.
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For water factory segment, segment revenue amounted to HK$21.7
million, increasing by HK$4.6 million (26.9%) in 2009 and segment
result recorded HK$4.9 million, decreasing by HK$1.2 million from
the segment profit of HK$6.1 million in 2009.

The results of the Group turned around significantly from a loss of
HK$1,139.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2009 to a profit
of HK$200.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2010. This was
mainly due to gain of disposal of available-for-sale investments of
HK$63.0 million and fair value upwards of investment properties of
HK$63.0 million was resulted for the year ended 31 March 2010
while gain of HK$6.1 million and fair value downwards of HK$93.4
million was resulted for the year ended 31 March 2009 respectively.
And the net gain on investments held for trading of HK$2.2 million
was recorded for the year ended 31 March 2010 while net loss of
HK$244.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2009. Besides, there
was loss on remeasurement to fair value less cost to sell in respect
of disposal group held for sale of HK$255.6 million and impairment
loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$387.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2009 while no such losses were recorded for
the year ended 31 March 2010. In addition, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$2.0 million was resulted for the year ended 31
March 2010 while loss of HK$156.2 million was recorded for the
year ended 31 March 2009.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DT

Liquidity

Bank and cash balances at 31 March 2010 increased to HK$741.0
million (31/3/2009: HK$707.0 million), accounting for 28.9%
(31/3/2009: 30.1%) of the net tangible asset value of the Group.
Such increase was mainly attributable to placement of shares during
the year. The cash was mainly used for daily operations and the
current ratio of the Group at 31 March 2010 was 4.42 (31/3/2009:
5.31).

Financial Review

The current assets of the Group at 31 March 2010 increased
HK$1,046.0 million (53.9%) to HK$2,985.7 million (31/3/2009:
HK$1,939.7 million).

Such increase was mainly attributable to the increases in
properties under development for sale of HK$1,226.5 million,
current convertible notes receivables of HK$435.3 million, loans
to associates of HK$2.6 million, and bank balances and cash of
HK$34.0 million. Such increases outweighed the decrease in trade
and other receivables and prepayments of HK$230.9 million,
investments held for trading of HK$3.6 million, convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or loss of HK$5.2 million,
short-term loans receivable of HK$102.6 million, amount due from
related companies of HK$276.3 million and assets classified as held
for sale of HK$34.2 million at 31 March 2010 as compared to 31
March 2009.
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Properties under development for sale was acquired through the
acquisition of 60% interest in Best Smooth International Limited
(“Best Smooth”), the amount of HK$1,226.5 million represented
land use rights for a piece of land located in Guangzhou, PRC
and development costs incurred to date on incomplete properties
erected on it.

Convertible notes receivables increased by HK$435.3 million from
HK$95.7 million at 31 March 2009 to HK$531.0 million at 31
March 2010. Such increase was mainly due to two convertible notes
receivables were classified from non-current assets at 31 March
2009 to current assets as both convertible notes receivables will be
matured within 1 year as at 31 March 2010.

Trade and other receivables and prepayments decreased from
HK$315.2 million at 31 March 2009 to HK$84.3 million at 31
March 2010. The significant decrease was mainly attributable
to the collection of consideration of disposal of subsidiaries
and reclassification of HK$175.0 million as properties under
development for sale under current assets. The number of days for
debtors turnover dropped from 147 days in last year to 19 days
in current year and such decrease was mainly attributable to the
significant decrease in the average balance of trade receivables.

Repayment to related companies during the year resulted in the
decrease of amount due from related companies of HK$276.3
million from HK$277.3 million at 31 March 2009 to HK$1.0 million
at 31 March 2010.
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Trade and other payables and accruals increased from HK$66.7
million at 31 March 2009 to HK$303.8 million at 31 March 2010.
The significant increase of HK$237.1 million was mainly attributable
to the construction payables and refundable amounts to certain
properties purchasers in Best Smooth and its subsidiaries (“Best
Smooth Group”). The number of days for creditors turnover
decreased from 273 days in last year to 117 days in current year.

At 31 March 2010, total borrowings of the Group amounted
to HK$812.5 million (31/3/2009: HK$850.3 million), of which
HK$769.3 million (31/3/2009: HK$764.4 million) were not
repayable within one year. The borrowings included bank and other
borrowings of HK$138.5 million (31/3/2009: HK$175.3 million).
There were no overdrafts at 31 March 2010 (31/3/2009: HK$24.1
million). In addition, there were convertible notes payables of
HK$674.0 million at 31 March 2010 (31/3/2009: HK$650.9 million).
The decrease in borrowings was due to repayment of HK$37.8
million was made during the year. During the year ended 31 March
2010, coupon interest paid for the convertible loan notes was
HK$14.1 million and interest accrued under effective interest rate
was HK$37.2 million.

Pledge of assets

At 31 March 2010, certain assets of the Group amounting to
HK$305.4 million (31/3/2009: HK$240.0 million) were pledged to
banks and financial institutions for loan facilities granted to the
Group.
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio (borrowings/shareholders’ funds) at 31 March
2010 decreased to 32.8% (31/3/2009: 42.4%) owing to the
increase of shareholders’ fund.

Exchange rate and interest rate risks exposure

Most of the Group's business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi. However, the
Group will consider entering into hedging contracts to eliminate
any exposures to downside risks, whenever the Group and the
concerned foreign subsidiaries think fit. At the balance sheet date,
the Group did not enter into any interest rate speculative and
hedging contracts.

Contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2010, the Group had guarantee given to a bank in
respect of banking facilities utilized by an associate of HK$1.0
million (31/3/2009: utilized by a third party of HK$23.7 million).

Material acquisition of a subsidiary

On 20 July 2009, the Group entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement to acquire 60% of the issued share capital
of Best Smooth and 60% of the outstanding shareholder’s
loan owed by Best Smooth to the vendor at a consideration of
HK$353,850,000. Best Smooth is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are engaged in the holding of property
development project in the PRC. The acquisition was completed on 7
December 2009.

Employees and remuneration policies

At 31 March 2010, there were approximately 92 staff members
(31/3/2009: 105) employed by the Group. The remuneration policies
are formulated on the basis of performance of individual employees
and the prevailing salaries’ trends in the various regions. They
are subject to be reviewed every year. The Group also provided
employee training programs, a mandatory provident fund scheme,
medical insurance and discretionary bonuses. Share options are to
be awarded to employees on a merit basis. No share options were
granted during the year.
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Directors Profile
EEEHE

Executive Directors

Dr. YAP, Allan, aged 54, joined the Company in 1995 and
was appointed as the Managing Director in November 2000. In
September 2008, Dr. Yap was elected as the Chairman of the
Company. He obtained the Honorary degree of Doctor of Laws and
has over 28 years' experience in finance, investment and banking.
Dr. Yap is an executive director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Wing On Travel (Holdings) Limited), a company
whose shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Dr. Yap is the chairman
and chief executive officer of China Enterprises Limited, a company
whose shares are traded on the OTC Securities Market in the United
States of America, as well as Burcon NutraScience Corporation, a
company whose shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange in
Canada and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany. Dr. Yap is
the executive chairman of PSC Corporation Ltd, Intraco Limited and
Tat Seng Packaging Group Ltd., all of which are companies whose
shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited.

On 21 December 2009, Dr. Yap resigned as the chief executive
officer but continues to act as an executive director of See
Corporation Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Yap is the chairman of MRI
Holdings Limited (“MRI"), a company whose shares are listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange. In December 2009, the directors
of MRI recommended the return of capital to its shareholders by
way of members’ voluntary liquidation which was approved by its
shareholders in April 2010.

Mr. CHAN Kwok Chuen, Augustine, aged 51, joined the Company
in September 2008. He was elected as the Managing Director in
January 2009. Mr. Chan is a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. He holds a diploma in arts and has over 27 years’
experience in trading business in the PRC. Mr. Chan is also an
executive director of ITC Corporation Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KWOK Ka Lap, Alva, aged 62, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director since July 2003. He was a marketing manager
in an international company engaging in the design of business
administration system. Mr. Kwok has been in the insurance and
investments business for over 28 years, principally in the senior
managerial position leading a sizable sales team. Mr. Kwok is an
independent non-executive director of ITC Properties Group Limited
and Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly known as Wing On
Travel (Holdings) Limited).

Mr. POON Kwok Hing, Albert, aged 49, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since February 2007. Mr. Poon graduated
from the University of Bath, United Kingdom with a Master of
Science degree in Business Administration. He is also a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA Australia. Mr. Poon is currently an independent
non-executive director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Wing On Travel (Holdings) Limited).

Mr. SIN Chi Fai, aged 50, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since January 2008. Mr. Sin is a director and a shareholder
of two Singapore companies engaged in the distribution of data
storage media and computer related products and distribution
of educational toys in Asian countries. He obtained a diploma in
Banking from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He has over 14 years of experience in
banking field and has 14 years’ sales and marketing experience in
information technology industries. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Wing On Travel (Holdings) Limited).
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

Hanny Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to ensuring
good standards of corporate governance in order to protect and
enhance the interests of shareholders. This report discloses how
the Company has applied the principles of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2010, except that,
with respect to code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The independent non-executive directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by
rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance
with the Bye-Laws of the Company. As at each annual general
meeting one-third of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
(or such number as nearest to but not less than one-third) must
retire by rotation, each of the Directors is effectively appointed for a
term of approximately three years.

The Board

Composition of the Board

The board of Directors (the “Board”) represents shareholders of the
Company in managing the Company’s affairs. The Board currently
comprises of five members, including two executive directors, Dr.
Yap, Allan (Chairman), and Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine
(Managing Director), and three independent non-executive directors,
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva, Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert and Mr. Sin
Chi Fai. Biographical details of the Directors and the relevant
relationships among them, if any, are set out in the “Directors
Profile” on pages 11 to 12.
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The Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors
and independent non-executive directors and possesses a wide
spectrum of relevant skills and experience. One of the independent
non-executive directors has the professional accounting
qualifications as required under the Listing Rules. The Company has
received confirmation from each independent non-executive director
about his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company continues to consider all independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year and on other
occasions as and when required. Members of the Board are advised
to inform the Company Secretary if they wish to include matters
in the agenda before the relevant regular Board meeting. All
Board members are kept informed of material changes about the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and
have full access to the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring
the Board procedures are followed.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, six meetings were held by
the Board. Individual attendance of each Board member at these
meetings is shown below:
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Board Meetings
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EHE BETZ
Directors BEx E LA E VS
Executive Directors HiTEE
Dr. Yap, Allan Yap, Allanfg = 6/6
Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine PR B 62 ST & 5/6
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHHITEE
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva P EAE 6/6
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert & B 5T A 5/6
Mr. Sin Chi Fai EEEAE 6/6
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The Board represents the highest level of authority in the
governance structure of the Company. Its principal functions are
to formulate corporate strategy and direction with the objective of
enhancing shareholders value, to consider the Company’s major
corporate matters, to monitor and control the operating and
financial performance of the Group. The Board has established three
committees with specific responsibilities to manage and oversee
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. Each committee is
appointed with written terms of reference and is accountable to
the full Board. Day-to-day management of the Group’s business
is delegated to the Executive Committee. The delegation of
responsibilities and authority is reviewed regularly to ensure that the
appropriate reporting systems are in place. The Board has reserved
for its decision and consideration matters covering corporate
strategy, dividend policy, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, annual and interim results, changes of members of
the Board and its committees, and other significant operational and
financial matters. A written procedure has been agreed for Directors
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
upon their request.

The Company has arranged for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to indemnify its Directors and management staff against
potential liabilities incurred by them in discharging their duties.
The insurance coverage for the Directors and management staff is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Chairman and Managing Director

The Company fully recognizes that the respective role of the
Chairman and the Managing Director should be distinct and
separated. The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the
Board while the Managing Director is responsible for managing
the business of the Group and leading the management team
to implement strategies and objectives formulated by the Board.
A clear division of responsibilities at the Board level has been
maintained to entail a balance of power and authority.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company has not established a nomination committee. The
Board as a whole is responsible for considering and approving the
appointment of new Directors in accordance with the Bye-Laws of
the Company. Any new Director so appointed shall hold office until
the next following annual general meeting for re-election by the
shareholders of the Company. In addition, one-third of the Directors
are required to retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting, and each retiring Director is eligible for re-election by
shareholders.

An induction program on the latest information of the Group will be
arranged for any new director. A comprehensive orientation package
detailing the responsibilities and duties of being a director and
the requirements under the applicable rules and regulations of the
Company will also be provided.

Board Committees

The Board has established committees to assist in carrying out its
responsibilities. Three committees have been appointed, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee. The committees oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs and report regularly to the Board.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all executive directors, currently
Dr. Yap, Allan and Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine. The Executive
Committee meets as and when required to oversee the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group's business.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of two independent
non-executive directors and one executive director. The current
members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Kwok Ka Lap,
Alva (who acts as chairman of the committee), Mr. Poon Kwok Hing,
Albert and Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine. The Remuneration
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on management succession planning for senior management of the
Group; formulate and review remuneration policy and packages
of all directors and senior management; and review and approve
compensation packages, roles and responsibilities of employees of
the Group. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are posted on the Company’s website.

The remuneration package of Directors is based on their individual
performance, salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration Committee will consult
the Chairman and the Managing Director about their proposals
relating to the remuneration of other executive directors and have
access to professional advice if considered necessary.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31
March 2010 to discuss remuneration related matters and review the
remuneration policy of the Group. Individual attendance of each
Remuneration Committee member at the meeting is shown below:
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Audit Committee

Major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(a)

To consider the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the terms of
engagement of the auditor, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of the auditor of the Company;

To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
auditor and effectiveness of the audit process and discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations;

To review annual report and accounts, half-year report before
submission to the Board;

To review the financial controls, internal controls and risk
management system of the Group and make recommendations
to the Board; and

To review the auditor’'s management letter and material
queries raised by the auditor to management in respect of
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response.

The Audit Committee comprises of three independent non-executive
directors. The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr.
Poon Kwok Hing, Albert (who acts as chairman of the committee),
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva and Mr. Sin Chi Fai. All Audit Committee
members have appropriate qualifications and experience to properly
discharge its roles and responsibilities.
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During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to review with the management and the auditor the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009
and the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2009, with recommendations to the Board for
approval; to review the effectiveness of internal control system; and
to approve the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor
for the year ended 31 March 2010. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are posted on the Company’s website. Individual
attendance of each Audit Committee member at these meetings is
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Audit Committee Meetings

attended/held

BHE T8I

Audit Committee Member EREER|RE ENZEEERRY

Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert & B 5 A& 2/2

Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva P EAE 2/2

Mr. Sin Chi Fai HEB A 2/2
Auditor’'s Remuneration ZE RN &

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the amount paid to Deloitte e Z—ZFZF-_A=+—HIFE 7

Touche Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company in respect of the
audit and non-audit services provided are as follows:
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Amount
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(HK$°000)

Type of services fRisEa (F#Er)

Audit Bz 1,985
Non-audit services IEF LIRS

Taxation WIE 90

Other services B M AR 7% 3,970

Total: &5 6,045




Compliance with the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors have confirmed the
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

Directors’ and Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flow for the period concerned.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2010, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and,
apart from the new and revised accounting policies as disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, applied
them consistently with previously financial periods. The Directors
have made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and the financial statements are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor are set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 31 to 32.
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Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to achieve the
Company’s business strategies and the Group’s business operations.
The Board has adopted an internal control policy, which has been
developed with a primary objective of providing general guidance
and recommendations on a basic framework of internal control and
risk management. The aim of the Group's internal control policy is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss rather than to eliminate risks of failure in
operational systems and achievement of the objectives of the Group.

Management has conducted reviews during the year on the
effectiveness of the internal control system covering material
controls in financial, operational and compliance areas, various
functions for risks management as well as physical and information
systems security. The Audit Committee has been reported twice
during the year, in conjunction with key findings identified by the
external auditor.

The Company has engaged an independent consultant to perform
internal controls design assessment of certain systems and to
prepare a report (the “Internal Controls Review Report”) to
enable the management of the Company to evaluate and provide
reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, providing reliable financial reporting, complying with
applicable laws and regulations and, where appropriate, carry out
the recommended controls procedures of the Internal Controls
Review Report. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Internal
Controls Review Report.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to ensure on-going dialogue with
shareholders and provide shareholders with information necessary
to evaluate the performance of the Company. The primary
communication channel includes the publication of interim and
annual reports, annual general meeting and other general meetings,
and the Company’s website.

The Company has maintained a website at http://www.hanny.com
which enables shareholders, investors and the general public to
have an open access to the information of the Company. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Company
are made available on the Company’s website which is updated
regularly.
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The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are pleased to
present to the shareholders their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2010.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in trading of securities, holding of vessels for
sand mining, industrial water supply business, property development
and trading and other strategic investments including (i) a subsidiary
whose shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange; (ii) an
associated company whose shares are traded on the OTC Securities
Market in the United States of America; and (iii) convertible notes
issued by companies whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates of the
Company are set out in notes 53 and 22 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results

Details of the results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 33 to
34.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1.5 cents per
share subject to approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("AGM"). The proposed final dividend will be
payable on or about 30 September 2010 to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on 3 September 2010.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Investment Properties

Details of the valuation of the investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Dr. Yap, Allan (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine (Managing Director)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva

Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert

Mr. Sin Chi Fai

In accordance with bye-laws 87(2) and 87(3) of the Company's Bye-
laws, Dr. Yap, Allan and Mr. Sin Chi Fai will retire from office by
rotation at AGM. Dr. Yap, Allan and Mr. Sin Chi Fai, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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Interests of Directors

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which (a) were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or (b) were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

jjz/ﬁ\fff—ﬂtﬁﬂawj&.(ﬂi%ﬁ %&,HH
) (&7 R BEHDI) FEXVED) 2 I
- HERDEESFTERAEN T 2EE R
/)\F' Mz E MR R (a)E R ER R IRIE
ﬁ&ﬁﬂf"iﬂﬂ’ﬁﬂ%352%%&%?‘%2%‘%&
fFHIN () RIFH R PrES EARR ([ £
m%ﬁE\IJJ)MTﬁJrFﬁ%Lm RERETE
FRHMBESTR ([RETR NS
EANYNCIDNE 5l

Approximate %

Number of Number of of the issued
Shares underlying share capital of
Name Capacity (long position) shares the Company
RHEE HARDF S BT
& 514 (&) HERGEE BABANB S
Dr. Yap, Allan Beneficial Owner 3,178,108 - 0.57%
Yap, Allani& =+ EmiEA A
Beneficial Owner - 635,620 0.11%
EmEAA
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the directors B EXPFTHEEEIN R_ZE—FF=A1

and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short

positions in the shares,

underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

As at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors or their respective
associates was interested in any business apart from the Group's
businesses, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of
Significance

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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ESEHE

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2010, the persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of

the SFO were as follows:

TERRZER

RZZE-—TF=R=+—H THALR
ZNYNECIE QRN ol Sl R R SR e
BMZERAIREERHERIRIERES
KB IGRDIE3IZ6FREFEZELMA

Approximate %

Number of Number of of the issued
Shares underlying share capital of
Name Capacity (long position) shares the Company
R4 &E EARDB S BT
£ 5t (FR) AHRABE  REABHES
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Beneficial Owner 2,298,393 - 0.41%
Charles (“Dr. Chan") E=mfEA
(Note 1) Beneficial Owner - 179,520 0.03%
FREISR1E + ([PRIEL]) BB A
(Bt7t1) Interest of controlled 240,146,821 - 42.77%
corporations
RPN A s
Interest of controlled - 11,999,977 2.14%
corporations
RN o
Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy Interest of spouse 2,298,393 - 0.41%
(Note 2) BB =
R 2+ (fit2) Interest of spouse - 179,520 0.03%
P 455 8 25
Interest of spouse 240,146,821 - 42.77%
fic 18 4 2
Interest of spouse - 11,999,977 2.14%
e B2
ITC Corporation Limited Interest of controlled 240,146,821 - 42.77%
(Note 3) corporations
EHELEEREBRAA SR a/N o £
(Hit3) Interest of controlled - 11,999,977 2.14%
corporations
RERNF 2 EE
ITC Investment Holdings Interest of controlled 240,146,821 - 42.77%
Limited (Note #17%4) corporations
RENT
Interest of controlled - 11,999,977 2.14%

corporations
HERNE 2R
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Approximate %

Number of Number of of the issued
Shares underlying share capital of
Name Capacity (long position) shares the Company
BHEE HEAQRATEBIT
£18 5% (#F2) ERER M EE BAEASHNED L
Mankar Assets Limited Interest of controlled 240,146,821 - 42.77%
(Note K7i#5) corporation
SR U/NE
Interest of controlled - 5,937,673 1.06%
corporation
XERAIZER
Famex Investment Limited  Beneficial owner 240,146,821 - 42.77%
HERIEEBR AR EmEE A
Beneficial owner - 5,937,673 1.06%
EnlEA
Notes:— Kt -

1.

Save

Dr. Chan is deemed to be interested in 240,146,821 shares and
11,999,977 underlying shares of the Company through corporations
controlled by him. Out of these deemed interests, 240,146,821 shares
and 5,937,673 underlying shares are held by Famex Investment Limited
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mankar Assets Limited and
6,062,304 underlying shares are held by Hollyfield Group Limited. Both
Mankar Assets Limited and Hollyfield Group Limited are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of ITC Investment Holdings Limited, which in turn is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Corporation Limited. ITC Corporation
Limited is deemed to be a controlled corporation of Dr. Chan.

Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy, spouse of Dr. Chan, is deemed to be
interested in the interests held by Dr. Chan.

These interests are included in the interests held by Dr. Chan.

These interests are included in the interests held by ITC Corporation
Limited.

These interests are included in the interests held by ITC Investment
Holdings Limited.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Company had

not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to
be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

1. BRIETHRABBEZES 2 ARINRART
2240,146,821iX A& 17 £211,999,977 % 18
AR EAEEZ RZEWRAREZ
MRS 0 240,146,821 888815 125,937,673
fi% 8 B8 A% 17 A Mankar Assets LimitedZ
2EMBARIHEBIREBRARZFE
6,062,304/% #8 B8 i% 19 Fa Hollyfield Group
Limited$f & - Mankar Assets Limited
K Hollyfield Group Limitedy &ITC
Investment Holdings LimitedZ & & M &
AA] » MITC Investment Holdings Limited
REFLESEBRERARIZCZEANBA
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PESE
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Major Customers and Suppliers
For the year ended 31 March 2010

(i)  the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 22.5% and 80.1% respectively of
the Group's total turnover,

(i) the Group's largest supplier and five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 16.5% and 51.3% respectively of
the Group's total purchases.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or shareholders who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 March 2010, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's

Bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Director, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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Events after the Reporting Period
Details of the significant events subsequent to the end of the

reporting period are set out in note 52 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Group Financial Summary
A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and

liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 175.

Corporate Governance
Information on Corporate Governance Practices adopted by the

Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
13 to 22.

Auditor

A resolution will be proposed at the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Yap, Allan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 July 2010
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

Deloitte.
=2)

TO THE MEMBERS OF HANNY HOLDINGS LIMITED
BREKEERLT

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hanny
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 33 to 174, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
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Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 July 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEmEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z —E—ZFF=H=+—HIFEF

2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaF FExT FAT
Turnover HER
— gross proceeds — PSR AR 7 80,793 430,927
Revenue from water supply business K ZEFUA 21,682 17,085
Revenue from sand mining business R =B A 52,848 32,224
Cost of sales $HE A (65,323) (44,311)
Other income H A 9 114,843 133,647
Distribution and selling expenses DR EER = (2)
Administrative expenses THAX (52,450) (60,314)
Finance costs B & A 10 (59,721) (61,746)
Change in fair value of conversion ARBRER LIRS
options embedded in convertible RNEEES
notes 25 736 (11,192)
Change in fair value of convertible BEZAFEYELFTA
notes designated at fair value BRZALBMEBEE R
through profit or loss FEE 29 - (8,304)
Gain on convertible notes converted A HBMEBR LR ABEIE
into investment held for trading BEIRE 2 WHE 29 - 20,832
Net gain (loss) on investments BIEEERE Wz
held for trading (FE18) F8 2,167 (243,975)
Change in fair value of investment BEMEZ NFEZE
properties 18 63,000 (93,440)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EEEREEIE 20 (19,475) (12,165)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEBEESRE 21 - (19,655)
Impairment loss on property, W HELRRERES
plant and equipment # 17 (28,892) (47,659)
Reversal of impairment loss on club gESBEEERD
debentures - 195
Loss on remeasurement to fair value BIEHE o HEHR
less cost to sell in respect of EFEERAFE
disposal group held for sale BHEKA 2B 11(a) = (255,570)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEEREREEE
investments 23 - (387,068)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMMHRBEEREZ
investments U 62,952 6,135
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMHB AR Z W
(E#E) 43 2,029 (156,169)
Gain on disposal of interest in HE—HEE R
an associate Uz 11(b) 21,742 -
Share of results of associates JE(RBE & N AL 74,259 18,813
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2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTEENF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt THER T
Profit (loss) before income tax BrETE R R G A (EE) 190,397 (1,172,639)
Income tax credit TS % 12 9,846 32,999
Profit (loss) for the year FREA (BE) 13 200,243 (1,139,640)
Other comprehensive income (loss) Hth 2wk (EE)
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBRIEE 2
translation of foreign operations E X =% 25,895 (6,494)
Share of other comprehensive expense  JE{FH & A A E b 2 H
of associates -3 (11,142) (568)
Fair value change on available-for-sale ~ AJ#iEEIRE 2 A FE
investments ) 243,565 (371,207)
Reclassification adjustments: BN ECHE:
— On impairment of available-for-sale — A HIHERERER
investments - 387,068
— On disposal of subsidiaries —HEWB QAR = (39,994)
- On disposal of —HERHIEERER
available-for-sale investments (62,952) (6,135)
— On disposal of an associate — & —HEE QR (21,742) -
Other comprehensive income (loss) FREMEEKZE
for the year (B#E) 173,624 (37,330)
Total comprehensive income (loss) FREEWE (F1E) 85
for the year 373,867 (1,176,970)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: AT A £ 4G 4 A% 7
(B#E) -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ ¥ =N 188,731 (1,145,222)
Minority interests DER R ER 11,512 5,582
200,243 (1,139,640)
Total comprehensive income AT ATEEZEKE
attributable to: mEE
Owners of the Company KRARHEE A 354,943 (1,184,595)
Minority interests D HR R 18,924 7,625
373,867 (1,176,970)
Earnings (loss) per share BRaEN (BHE) 16
- Basic and diluted —BERNEE HK$0.36/8 7T  HK$(7.56)% 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR R

At 31 March 2010 R-_ZE—FF=H=+—H

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B &t FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W HRRERE 17 116,126 159,846
Investment properties WA 18 221,000 158,000
Prepaid lease payments FEMHEENR 19 7,219 7,732
Intangible assets mEEE 20 58,332 83,734
Goodwill EES 21 6,869 6,869
Interests in associates Bt N AIRE R 22 256,098 146,127
Available-for-sale investments AEHEERE 23 366,620 385,132
Convertible notes receivable FEYL AT HAR R 24 266,880 726,384
Conversion options embedded in A RBRER LR
convertible notes 25 814 62
Club debentures SHES 3,920 3,920
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE E 40 1,395 1,395
1,305,273 1,679,201
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepaid lease payments FERTHE & R 19 566 562
Inventories, at cost FE (EKA) 288 553
Properties held for sale FIEHE 213,436 212,945
Properties under development for sale  FEHREFRYE 26 1,226,470 -
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R E M ERETER
prepayments TR SRR 27 84,342 315,193
Investments held for trading FIEEEKRE 28 262 3,865
Convertible notes receivable JEUT ] 5 iR =ik 24 530,970 95,690
Conversion options embedded in A HBRER LR
convertible notes 25 80 96
Convertible notes designated at fair FEERAFENEILF A
value through profit or loss Ba2i LinEE 29 — 5,182
Short-term loans receivable JEW R B E K 30 1,000 103,552
Amounts due from related companies JfE UL B8 B A B FE 37 993 277,250
Loans to associates LTEERAER 32 109,433 106,855
Tax recoverable AR E R IE 31 -
Bank balances and cash WITHEBR LIRS 33 741,035 706,981
2,908,906 1,828,724
Assets classified as held for sale DHEAERBEHEEZEE 11 76,800 111,013
2,985,706 1,939,737
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2010 2009
—E-BF —EERAF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Jioka FExT FAT
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREEE
Trade and other payables and accruals & 5 N H b FE - 718 &
Bt & A 34 303,816 66,710
Amounts due to associates JE - Bt 2 N B FRIE 32 1,437 -
Amounts due to related companies JESREE A R 5B 317 107,245 143,811
Deposits received in advance TEWET & 42 173,970 -
Tax payable JE T 118 45,308 68,696
Borrowings — due within one year BR——FAEH 35 43,250 61,750
Bank overdrafts RITEX 36 = 24,068
675,026 365,035
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFE 2,310,680 1,574,702
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHEERABERSE
LIABILITIES 3,615,953 3,253,903
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital & 7 37 5,614 4,010
Share premium and reserves A& 1 i B R R 2,469,747 2,000,525
Equity attributable to owners of RARHE AEGRA
the Company % a 2,475,361 2,004,535
Minority interests DHRE R E S 154,951 437,963
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 2,630,312 2,442,498
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Borrowings — due after one year BR——F &30 35 95,313 113,563
Convertible loan notes AMBEEREERE 39 673,963 650,872
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIERE 40 41,724 46,970
Amount due to a minority shareholder <t — 4 > B AL 3R 7k 18 31 174,641 -
985,641 811,405
3,615,953 3,253,903

The consolidated financial statements on pages 33 to 174 were
approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 23
July 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Yap, Allan
Yap, Allanf& =
CHAIRMAN
E

EFEEeCR T EFELA-+=HitE
NIRRT R EIBERI1TIE 280 ER

& OHANRTALTRERRSE:

Mr. Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine
R B 2 55 &

MANAGING DIRECTOR

BRI
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREZFF KR

For the year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —

= =

FZA=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KRAREEAARE
Retained
Convertible Currency Capital  Investment profits
Share Share  loannotes  Contributed translation Jempti luati Other I Warrant lated Minority Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserves reserves reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity
TERER it #4 & AREE  REER SERR
BE  RHEE  REEE  RABR  GEER  RDBR  EMBE  RRBR  EfER g% (BiER) &t g REEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin FEL Tin FiEn T TiEn Fin FEn FER TiEn FiEn FEL Tin FiEn
(note 3)
(H#a)
At 1 April 2008 RZZEN\EMA-R 50,128 761,607 54,585 1,448,202 92,319 592 (76,463) 10,603 27828 - 719,609 3,089,010 678,591 3,767,601
Exchange differences arising on translation  #EEEZEX 28 - - - - (8,537) - - - - - - (8,537) 2083 (6,494)
Other comprehensive income of associates  BY &R E 2 £t 2 EME - - - - (3,167) - - 2,59 - - - (568) - (568)
Fair value change on available-for-sale HEEREZATERE
investments - - - - - - (371,207) - - - - (371,207) - (371,207)
Impairment loss on avallable-for-sale A EERARESA
investments - - - - - - 387,068 - - - - 387,068 - 387,068
Disposal of available-forsale investments L ETHEERE - - - - - - (6,135) - - - - (6,135) - (6,135)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - (21129 - - (18,865) - - - (39,994) - (39,994)
(Loss) profit for the year Fh(FR)EN - - - - - - - - - - (145220 (1,145.222) 558 (1,139,640
Total comprehensive income (expense) FR2EkE (R 88
for the year - - - - (32,833) - 9,726 (16,266) - - (1,145200)  (1,184,595) 7625 (1,176970)
Capital reduction RalE (49,126) - - 19126 - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of shares with warrants (note 38) BRHERY 3,008 97,408 - - - - - - - 4,853 - 105,269 - 105,269
Transaction cost elated to issve of shares ~ EE TR 7
with warrants BBZRBHE - (5,149) - - - - - - - - - (5,149) - (5,149)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAD - - - - - - - - - - - - (248,253) (248,253)
Transfer upon disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRAEEE - - - - - - - - (27828 - 2,828 - - -
At 31 March 2009 RZFTNF=A=1-8 4010 853,866 54,585 1,497,328 59,486 592 (66,737) (5,663) - 4853 (397,785) 2,004,535 437,963 2,442,498
Exchange differences arising on translation B &% 7 EXEE - - - - 18483 - - - - - - 18483 7412 25,895
Realized on disposal of an associate HE-BRENABEE - - - - (27,405) - - 5,663 - - - 0,742 - (21,74
Other comprehensive income of associates B2 LE 2Kt 2ENE - - - - - - - (11,142) - - - (11,142) - (11,142)
Fair value change on available-for-sale HEEREZATERS
investments - - - - - - 243,565 - - - - 243,565 - 243565
Disposal of available-for-sale investments ~ HETEEELE - - - - - - (62,952) - - - - (62,952) - (62,95)
Profit for the year EhEd - - - - - - - - - - 188,731 188,731 11,512 200,243
Total comprehensive income (expense) FR2ENE (FX
for the year - - - - (8,922) - 180,613 (5,479) - - 188,731 354,943 18924 373,867
Placement of shares RERR 1,200 92,400 - - - - - - - - - 93,600 - 93,600
Exercise of warrants AERREE 404 27,500 - - - - - - - (2,445) - 25,459 - 25459
Transaction cost related to placement of  EEERAEEZ XAAA
shares - 3,176) - - - - - - - - - 3,176) - (3.176)
Capital contribution from a minority —20URRTE
shareholder - - - - - - - - - - - - 28,008 28,008
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries hBEHBAIREL - - - - - - - - - - - - 171 i
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - - - - - - - @273 @2m3)
Dividends paid to minority interests BROERRESRS - - - - - - - - - - - - (338,398) (338,398)
At 31 March 2010 RZF-T§ZfA=1-8 5614 970,590 54,585 1,497,328 50,564 592 113876 (11,142) - 2408 (209,054) 2,475,361 154,951 2630312
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Notes: Bt -
(@)  The contributed surplus of the Company at the end of reporting period (@) ARAREBRBRZEHREMSE:
represented:
(i) the credit arising from the transfer of the share premium (i) KRARR—NRAANE_A=-+BK
account of the Company as at 20 February 1998 and 19 —ER=FE AT B HERDEE
February 2003 to the contributed surplus account of the BREBEANA CEHABRKRAME
Company; 2 ERR
(i) the credit arising from the reduction of the nominal value of the (i) R—NMIANF ZZEZ=FK_-_F
shares of the Company in 1999, 2003 and 2009; and TNFHEIRARGRGEEFEE
ZHEER R
(i) a balance as reduced by amounts transferred to the deficit (i) IMBEEZHBAEARBEAESR
account to eliminate the deficit of the Group as at 31 January DAR—_ZEEEF—A=+—080"
2000, 31 January 2001, 20 March 2003 and 31 March 2005. —EE-F-HA=+—H ZFZ

SH=A-TAR-TEAF=A
=t RzEsiE s
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z —E—ZFF=H=+—HIFEF

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEENF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt it THER FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEXEK
Profit (loss) before income tax BrETE AT R A (EE) 190,397 (1,172,639)
Adjustments for: RTINS IBIEL A
Interest income A BHA (100,544) (119,365)
Finance costs W5 ER 59,721 61,746
Change in fair value of AIHBMERE B2
conversion options embedded NEEEE
in convertible notes (736) 11,192
Change in fair value of convertible EERATFEINRILE
notes designated at fair value ANERZAHBRER
through profit or loss ZAFEEE - 8,304
Gain on convertible notes converted AHBREBRLBRARHE
into investment held for trading BEERE W - (20,832)
Net (gain) loss on investments held BIEEBIRE (lmE)
for trading E5 18 F 58 (2,167) 243,975
Change in fair value of investment KEWMEZANTEE
properties (63,000) 93,440
Impairment loss on intangible assets EEEREER 19,475 12,165
Impairment loss on goodwill EESNAEY ! - 19,655
Impairment loss on property, W HeEE R ERE
plant and equipment (g 28,892 47,659
Reversal of impairment loss on gMESREEERE
club debentures - (195)
Loss on remeasurement to fair value FEHE 2 HEAR
less cost to sell in respect of ENTTEAATE
disposal group held for sale B E AN 2 B 1R - 255,570
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AIHHEREREEE
investments - 387,068
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2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt THER T
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEEREZ
investments W g (62,952) (6,135)
Loss (gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNBRAZEE
(Ma) (2,029) 156,169
Gain on disposal of interest in HE—EEE Qe Ex
an associate 2 W (21,742) -
Share of results of associates FEAG B & A R34 (74,259) (18,813)
Allowance for other receivables Hh i W 3k I8 24 425 4,619
Amortization of intangible assets mEE#H 5,927 6,631
Depreciation of property, M HBERRBINE
plant and equipment 17,881 25,460
Release of prepaid lease payment TEMMHEE N 564 562
Reversal of allowance for trade H 5 FE W E A B 5 A1
receivables - (14)
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE WS RRE
plant and equipment pd <t - 41
Operating cash flows before RETEEESEFH K&
movements in working capital BEmE (4,147) (3,737)
Decrease in inventories FERL 265 70
Additions to properties under REFEEETRWE
development for sale (9,209) -
Decrease (increase) in trade and other 8 5 & E b fE i 1B & 78
receivables and prepayments RFRIER A (35 0) 35,492 (151,490)
Decrease in investments held for trading #{F& ZH& & 5,770 367,919
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 K E b FRI8 & E
other payables and accruals &AM ORL) 20,093 (11,112)
Cash from operations REEBEEZRS 48,264 201,650
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENBEENEFH (1,538) (5,099)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REX(BELECRESFHE 46,726 196,551
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZEENF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt it THER FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXH
Repayment from related companies B E N RER 302,003 199,202
Proceeds from disposal of available HEHEEREMS
for sale investments KIE 103,407 11,613
Proceeds from disposal of HE—MEBERQ
an associate B 111,013 -
Repayment of short-term loans EEREHERERX
receivable 103,552 71,845
Proceeds from redemption of BB B ] R IR TS
convertible notes 100,000 30,000
Interest received Wmz H) & 32,045 41,513
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of LEMRBAR (MBREE
cash and cash equivalent 2HekBEEE
disposed of) EHE) 43 11,101 49,990
Proceeds from redemption of B TEAFENNEL
convertible notes designated FFABS A ABEE
at fair value through profit or loss FriS 3K 18 5,000 -
Repayment from associates B & A alE R 2,685 -
Advance of short-term loans receivable #1452 HifE I & =X (1,000) (70,785)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B8 & ¥ % - # 28 & 3245 (2,112) (4,187)
Advance to associates B VNCIEE (5.170) (97,744)
Advance to related companies Bz RN AR (31,507) (93,305)
Acquisition of an associate U iE — = A (45,000) -
Acquisition of assets through acquisition 3% 18 Y BE B /8 & 7] Uk B
of subsidiaries (net of cash and BEE (ke kE
cash equivalents acquired) ReMREEEER) 41 (179,473) (40,000)
Dividend received from associates B & R RIER B - 3,703
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - R R
plant and equipment 1BRIE = 17
Acquisition of available-for-sale W HIHERE
investments - (101,861)
Additions to investment properties RNEREME - (1,440)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REXBEE(BA)Z
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BE&FEE 506,544 (1,439)
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2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET

FINANCING ACTIVITIES -0
Dividend paid to minority shareholder SENRA Y (338,398) -
Repayments of borrowings BEEX (450,999) (20,812)
Repayments to related companies AREE RN BIER (63,323) (39,907)
Interest paid EFE (38,916) (33,279)
Share issue expenses f& 317 X2 (3,176) (5,149)
Advance from associates iR l/NS T 1,437 -
Proceeds from exercise of warrants ITE R HEE FTIS FE 25,459 -
Contribution from a minority — BV RTE

shareholder 28,008 -
Advance from related companies EER NI E=E 32,335 10,644
Borrowings raised FTILE R 80,000 20,000
Proceeds from issue of shares BT PTEKIAE 93,600 105,269
Advance from a minority shareholder —% DH PR B 122,580 -
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MEXB (BRI ELER

FINANCING ACTIVITIES e R (511,393) 36,766
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRREEERERBEZM

CASH EQUIVALENTS FH 41,877 231,878
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUZREREAELEE

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR EH 682,913 458,050
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExSEH X

CHANGES 16,245 (7,015)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEEREEEE

AT END OF THE YEAR EH 741,035 682,913
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH  HEeRRESESEBEBAHR

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ki
Bank balances and cash WITHEB AR S 741,035 706,981
Bank overdrafts RITHEX - (24,068)

741,035 682,913
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z —E—ZFF=H=+—HIFEF

1. General

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3 September
1991 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares
and warrants are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered
office of the Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and the address of the principal
place of business of the Company is Unit 3101, 31st Floor,
Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

2. Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA™).

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised Borrowing Costs

2007)
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and
(Amendments) Obligations Arising on Liquidation

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

—R=1E

RABIR—AN—FNLA=BREEE
ERBERE-NAN—FRAE (K
EE]) AR R B R AR E A MK
Mo ERD ERBREZENREERE R
SFBRAR (MBRAA]) EMmeR
NP =R 2 # ik A Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda' MARREBE %
HBh 2 it R E AR IREBIE1293%
BlER1THRO31HE3101E -

HAMBmMERIABITZES  MATTIF
REARAZNEEE -

FEFR 37T R 4SS 5T 2 BB B
BREER ([BBHBRE
8 ])

T

RAFE AEECEMB THHESE
gtMAag ([BESMA®]) A
o 2 a] RGBT R ERT K2
B (M REERBAM B HmESR
All) e

BERGHENE R FERRZEN
(ZET+HF

R

BB G ERE3E BRAK
(ZET+F
Bi5ET)
Eyora el
FRRRER
(BFTA)
BEVBERESEN  RA-RHNBLIR - £R

EEMBTARE
BEAZEME

FIRREEGS  EHEELBEL
ERE27H AlZ BB Z A
(fBET )

BEMBREEN BEGGREH
F25% (BFTAK)



Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) — Int
9 & HKAS 39
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13

HK(IFRIC) — Int 15

HK(IFRIC) — Int 16

Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments
Operating Segments

Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
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FERAE] RAEIERT 2 BB
BHREER ([ FBMBRS
A ]) (&)

BEEVBREENE BMBEIARE 2 HE
A HES)
BEMEREELS

8%

BE (AEEBHRE W
REZEE) -
REZIRNLES
& RE39%
(BFTA)

BE (BRFBKERE BPREE
REZEE®) -

REF13R

BE (ABRVBERE RHEEZERS

REZEE) -

B
il
e
D
b

%
=
n

Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC) = Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2008, except for the amendment
to HKFRS 5 that is effective for
annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2009 in relation to the amendment
to paragraph 80 of HKAS 39

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods.

REE155%
B (ERUBERE BIEBREFEL
REZEE) - Egpy
REZ16%
5% (EBFHERE BZRFPEZEE
ZBZEE) -
REE18%
BERUMBHREEN RZTTNEEGZ
(BFTA) BAGBHREER
JE R ZE
ZhAELA—H
kAR EFEE
BAER 2 BENTE
WMEERFESH 2
EETBR AN
BERHMBHREEN  REBLHERED
(BFTA) S E80E ZIEFT
RZZEZNFRM
ZEBUBREL
g2

BT XX Fratsh - JRNETR] RGBT B
MRS ENHAEE ARG HHHL
BESHHHCEAVBRRALES

B2 48
REE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 B Z=F—FF =H=+—HIUFZF

Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and disclosure
only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes
(including revised titles for the consolidated financial
statements) and changes in the format and content of the
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation
of the Group’s reportable segments (see note 8), nor has the
adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of measurement of
segment profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities.

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required
in relation to fair value measurements in respect of financial
instruments which are measured at fair value. The Group
has not provided comparative information for the expanded
disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set out
in the amendments. The amendments also expand and amend
the disclosures required in relation to liquidity risk.

FE RG] RAEIERT 2 BB
BHREER ([ FBUBRS
ZA]) (&

EXE2D| RWE T 23 REE
Rl BB KRS ER

BEBEFERFE1I ( —FFLFHK
E&]) [ F#Z.z 251

EREGHENE IR (ZEZLFLK
BRI BIABPFIRGBE2HE (B E
AR MBHRERZIRE) U REA M
BREREA AT Z2HE -

BBH B AE85 [E55
15 /
AR

ERABEMBREELESRAEE
HEFAREAEEZAEHOB (R
MiEE8) » MR E B & R SE
BRMEEN D BED DBREER
DERBZHERE-

BT RREZHE (FBEYHER
FERET B TLA: RE| ZE
&)

FERMBREENFETRZEBTER
BRANAFEAEBZMBTAZAY
BHAENEZBEBR ARBRRZE
E5T 2 BRI WARTRHET H 1R
AERZHBER - ZFENER
MEFTEBRBE SRR 2AHEH

==
B ©
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Application of New and Revised 2. BRI REEBR BB
Hong Kong Financial Reporting ﬁ%#&%&ﬁ!&( [ EBIMBRE
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued) ZR]) (&)
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised NEEI IR FIEA T 5 2B/ 1E W
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been REM 2 F] RAEIERT 2R B ET 5k
issued but are not yet effective: =
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of EEMBREEN  BEYBREER
Improvements to HKFRSs 2008’ (BETA) LT A PN (5
BR-_ZTN\FH
HeBETBRE
ER|Z i
__ng/_\f
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs 20092 EEMBREEY RZZTNFEHZ
(1BETA) BAH RS ER
2 2
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs 2010° EEMBREEN R_E-TFEHZ
(BFTA) BAHBHEER
Z B
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures’ ER S ERE24 BBALREZE
(WP{ET)
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate ABGRERE2TR GERBUVBEHRE
Financial Statements’ (ﬁ‘“ﬂKuT)
HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Rights Issues” EEQTERENN HRZHBE
(BETA)
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items’ BB S EREINE AERYFER
(BETA)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Additional Exemptions for First- ARUBHREEL  BHRENE BN
time Adopters? £15% (BT AR) %
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Limited Exemption from EEUHREEN  BEUKREERNET
Comparative HKFRS 7 £15% (BETR) GEBERME
Disclosures for First-time CHEERTHRE
Adopters® LBER 2 BRH
G5
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-based BB BREER %@L}Uﬁ?&%%uﬂ%
Payment Transactions? £25% (BT AR) RFZR
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations’ EAPBREER  EBEH
F35 (LIBFT)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instrumentsé BERUBHREEL  HHEIAS

E95%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRHME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZE

2. Application of New and Revised 2.

Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
(Amendment) Funding Requirement”
HK(IFRIC) = Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners’
HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
and 1 January 2011, as appropriate.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February
2010.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20117.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013.

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will
affect the accounting treatment for changes in the Group's
ownership interest in a subsidiary.
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Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
will be effective from 1 April 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The standard requires all recognized financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either
amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized
cost. All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9 might
affect the classification and measurement of the Group's
financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments
or interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for the investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of
those interests at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated
against the interests of the Group except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combination

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquire, plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognized at their
fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognized and
measured at fair value less costs to sell.

3.

Annual Report 2009-20105 3% 50

EXRESETBER (&)

SEE(E)

SN

Elis
op

W

HEMBAREEFERNZ L BBR
REEANEE L BAERDFZES -
BEFENZ VBB REZBRER
EBEAH M ARERBE  UR
B A 6 B IR E D BUR R B 2 kg
e LEBRREHBRBL DB
RFFFHIE QR A 2 Z 8
AEEALE ELBRRABORN
BEELANBEIIREMEERER
B o

Ev A=k

Y B 52 715 LA VR AR » W R AN AR
1 AN 5% BB st R R A KRR O R R P
WTEE FEESRESBERME
TZBRARTARBERARZ 2 FER
B ERBAHEREEREGEKAR
AE-NEEABYBRELEREIN
EIFE HFRERARIT 2 WU 77 Al 3 Al
BE BELAIRABREEABRZ
NP ERR EREEBMEREE
RIESSRAFFHEZ IR B EERIF
FEXGRBRBEHEZERDE
ZE (B EAER) - AlIRAFERHEE
RATER NG E -



51 Hanny Holdings Limited %@ E@AR A F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognized. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of
the business combination, the excess is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at

cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZE

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale (in which case it is
accounted for under HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations). Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets
of the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’'s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognizing its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognized only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognized at the date of
acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is included
within the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested
for impairment separately. Instead, the entire carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment as a single asset.
Any impairment loss recognized is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment in the associate. Any reversal of impairment
loss is recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the relevant associate.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’)
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZE

3. Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

The Group discontinue the use of equity method of accounting
from the date that its interests in associates is classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are measured
at the lower of the interest in associates’ previous carrying

amount and the fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of

business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognized when goods are

delivered and title has passed.

Management service income is recognized when services are

provided.

Rental income, including rentals invoiced in advance from
properties let under operating leases, is recognized on a

straight line basis over the term of the relevant leases.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the item is derecognized.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognized.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognized as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent
the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating
leases and amortized over the lease term on a straight-line
basis except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income in the consolidated
financial statements and will be reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognized directly in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognized directly in
other comprehensive income.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the currency translation reserve).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognized in the currency translation
reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognized
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognized separately from goodwill where they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values
can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is
their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortization
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognized in the profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognized.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or net
realizable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and other
direct cost to acquire the properties. Net realizable value is
calculated at the actual or estimated selling price less related
costs of marketing and selling.

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are developed for future
sale in ordinary course of business are stated as the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises land and related
development costs directly attributable to the properties under
development for sale. Net realizable value is determined by
reference to professional valuations or directors estimates
based on prevailing market conditions.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRHME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two

subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and

those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

o it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a

recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 # Z —

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

—FE= A —AUFE

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated at fair value through profit or loss upon

initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

it forms parts of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
measurement recognized directly in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, convertible
notes receivable, short-term loans receivable, loans to
associates, amounts due from related companies and bank
balances) are carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is classified to profit or loss
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRHME

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit
or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of
the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organization.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of one to two months, observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, an impairment
loss is recognized in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognized in profit or loss. When a receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognized.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognized directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserves. For available-
for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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—FE= A —AUFEE

Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognized on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amounts due to related companies,
amount due to a minority shareholder, borrowings and bank
overdrafts are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method.

EXEFTHE (&)

BT A (&)

HEERELRER
SEERETZMBRARRBATA

RIBFFI L ANTEE 2 AR AR
BERBATAZEENE-

AT RTDERANREEEELME —
DRERZHGRES ZERAH-

EERFEZL

BERMNEEZRRAGFETBREZ#
WRARE BN AR 8% 2
% BRFEREMBREZAY
FHE (ER ) BB FHIR - R
BRI AT RAR S MR ZFF -

F BB SR B BR R R B RERR -

HbHH R &

ﬁmﬁﬁxﬁﬁaﬁfﬁ%&ﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁ
B ENEBERRFE  BNEER
CIE/SR ﬁ’éﬁQ%ﬁlﬂx%%ﬁﬁ fa ;R &
RITES BRFBERMN R AL
RN E



Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Company that contain
both the liability and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified
as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the
fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes into
equity, is included in equity (convertible loan notes reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible loan notes is carried at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible loan notes
reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible loan notes reserve
will be transferred to share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in
convertible loan notes reserve will be released to the retained
profits/accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognized in
profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible loan notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortized over the period of the convertible loan
notes using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company's own equity instruments are classified as an equity
instrument.

For warrants issued to subscribers of the Company’s shares,
the fair value of warrants on the date of issue is recognized
in equity (warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium upon exercise
of the warrants. Where the warrants remain unexercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognized in warrant
reserve will be transferred to the retained profits/accumulated
losses.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss from fair value changes is
recognized in profit or loss.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contacts and the host contacts are not measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognized initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognized
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is
recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and
payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. In addition, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

—EE=Z A —HUEE

EXEFTHE (&)

BT A (&)

U TERE

BUWBMEERSREZENER K
M EECHEEMAEEEEEZ
B HEERBEZBRIH AR K
Bl3REs SR ILEREEBUBKEE-
MR IR EER  ZBEER
EAEEEREERRERREMER
Wz R 2 Rt e &%EZ%@
ZEBEeNBRER

ERMANM]AE TR T
FEWMR ERITERTBAE K
t%mzﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MREzZEZEENER

BRRETEE (RBEEIN)RER
B(F2HLXEHERBZEK

e
-

REBHR AEE RS EET R E
WEEZREE NEEEETRA
TREEELRREEBR WEFESR
AR AIEEEEZ TR @S
EEREREE (1F) 212 - 1o
BRAEERAEAFHzEBLEE K
{Q%Zﬂﬁﬁﬁiiﬁ*ﬁﬁ%
BT AT RE BB I - TR E BRI A © 1
REBE 2 AIRESRBEFHER AR
H{E ZEEZREEMREE K
[ & %8 < B E B R AN R R X o



Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized as income immediately.

Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment loss on convertible notes receivable

In determining whether there is objective evidence of
impairment of the Group’s convertible notes receivable, the
Group takes into consideration of its estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss for convertible notes
receivable is measured as the difference between carrying
amount of the convertible notes receivables and the present
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at its original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As
at 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of convertible notes
receivable is HK$797,850,000 (2009: HK$822,074,000).
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4.

Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which intangible assets has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. The management
performed an impairment assessment on intangible assets and
an impairment loss of HK$19,475,000 (2009: HK$12,165,000)
were recognized in the consolidated financial statement. As at
31 March 2010, the carrying amount of intangible assets (net
of accumulated impairment losses) is HK$58,332,000 (2009:
HK$83,734,000).

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

Determining whether property, plant and equipment are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which property, plant and equipment and
have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. The management performed an impairment assessment
on property, plant and equipment and an impairment loss of
HK$28,892,000 (2009: HK$47,659,000) were recognized. As
at 31 March 2010, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment are HK$116,126,000 (2009: HK$159,846,000).
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Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated allowance on properties under development for sale
and properties held for sale

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the
Group’s properties under development for sale and properties
held for sale with reference to the current market environment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
Appropriate allowance for properties under development
and properties held for sale is made if the estimated
recoverable amount is lower than its carrying amount. As at
31 March 2010, the aggregate carrying amount of properties
under development for sale and properties held for sale is
approximately HK$1,439,906,000 (2009: HK$212,945,000).

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings and convertible loan notes which
are disclosed in notes 35 and 39 respectively, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues, new borrowings raised and
repayment of borrowings.
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6. Financial Instruments 6. MBITH
Categories of financial instruments 6a. BT HMER
2010 2009
—E-EF —EEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Financial assets BMKEE
Fair value through profit or loss L FAEZ BRI GTA 182
— Investments held for trading —BIEEBEKRE 262 3,865
— Conversion options embedded — A HIAE S R
in convertible notes 894 158
- Convertible notes designated —ERATFEYEILE
as at fair value through AEm 2 RIBER
profit or loss - 5,182
1,156 9,205
Available-for-sale financial assets AR EEEE 443,420 385,132
Loans and receivables B R EN T
Convertible notes receivables %HQTRL@KF‘; 797,850 822,074
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk HE b ERFRIA 18,517 311,139
Short-term loans receivable e S ﬁffm 1,000 103,552
Amounts due from related FE U B8 3 R B SR IE
companies 993 277,250
Loans to associates BT ENTIER 109,433 106,855
Bank balances and cash IRITER MRS 741,035 706,981
1,668,828 2,327,851
Total BEr 2,113,404 2,722,188
Financial liabilities RBERLSIRZHKEEE
at amortized cost
Trade and other payables H 5 kEAMENFKIA 286,773 45,814
Amounts due to related companies & B 2 &) A 107,245 143,811
Amounts due to associates AN /NEIE O] 1,437 -
Amount due to a minority B — 2 DB R E
shareholder 174,641 -
Borrowings B 138,563 175,313
Bank overdrafts RITIBEX = 24,068
Convertible loan notes Al AR B R EIE 673,963 650,872
1,382,622 1,039,878




6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are set out in
note 6(a) above and details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

() Credit risk management

As at 31 March 2010, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and the financial
guarantees issued by the Group arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective
recognized financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantee issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 45.

6.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

()

Credit risk management (Continued)

In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks and other financial
institutions with good reputation.

In addition, the credit risk on corporate guarantee
given to its associate and an outsider is limited
because the management will regularly review
their financial performance and reconsider the
continuance of the given guarantee regularly.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Included in loans to associates are loan to an
associate amounting to HK$107,477,000 as at
31 March 2010 (2009: loan to an associate of
HK$102,520,000 and amount due from a related
company of HK$277,084,000), which expose the
Group to the concentration of credit risk on these
counterparties. The Group assess the credit risk of
the loans by reviewing and monitoring the financial
performance of the associate. Since the associate
has been profitable with positive net asset value,
the management consider the default risk on the
receivables is not significant. Other than that, the
Group have no other significant concentration of
credit risk.

6.

MBITA

6b.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(ir)

Market risk

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s fair value interest rate risk
primarily relate to debt components of
convertible notes included in convertible notes
receivable, convertible loan notes liabilities
issued by the Company, convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or loss
and fixed-rate borrowings as set out in notes
24, 39, 29 and 35 respectively.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
primarily relate to variable-rate short-term
loans receivable, amounts due from (to)
related companies, loans to associates,
variable-rate other payables, borrowings and
bank overdrafts as set out in notes 30, 31, 32,
34, 35 and 36 respectively.

The Group maintains a mixture of variable
rate and fixed rate borrowings. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management
monitor interest rate change exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. ¥ TR (&)

6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. HIBRERERBFERBE
(Continued) (#&)
(i) Market risk (Continued) (i) TSR (4E)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) () FIRE g (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

(l) ?ﬁiﬁi //ILE*U THBAA

(h Regarding the cash flow interest rate

risk, the sensitivity analysis below mE  TXHRED

have been determined based on the M 75 4R & 5 FR SR B
exposure to interest rates for non- RETEZ ZIETET
derivative instruments at the end of BEREMETE -BLIE
the reporting period. For variable-rate WOF B ?_L/H f ;e
short-term loans receivable, amounts WREB AR RE 4
due from related companies, loans to %Hﬁ‘ﬁ*éﬂ ng A5
associates, borrowings, bank overdrafts R Tiﬁiﬁfgﬁ
and amounts due to related companies, Fﬁk/ RIKIET T

the analysis is prepared assuming TﬁETEj*“EAEE#EHﬂ
the amount of the relevant asset and R HEHBEEERKE

liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase
or decrease represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2010 would increase/decrease by
HK$1,808,000 (2009: post-tax loss
decrease/increase by HK$3,781,000).
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i1)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(1)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

(I Regarding the fair value interest rate
risk in relation to convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit
or loss, the balance at the end of
reporting period is not significant and
any further variations in interest rate will
not have significant impact on the result
of the Group. No sensitivity analysis is
provided.

Price risk on listed securities under available-
for-sale investments and investments held for
trading

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities included in available-for-sale
investments and investments held for trading.
The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group's equity price risk
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments
quoted in the Stock Exchange.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(11)

Price risk on listed securities under available-
for-sale investments and investments held for
trading (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks of listed securities included in
available-for-sale investments and investments
held for trading at the reporting date. In view
of the less volatile current market condition,
the management decreased the percentage
from 25% to 5% in preparing the sensitivity
analysis in the current year.

If the share prices of the respective equity
investments had been 5% (2009: 25%)
higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's:

o post-tax profit for the year would
increase/decrease by HK$13,000
(2009: post-tax loss for the year would
decrease/increase by HK$966,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of
investments held-for-trading; and

6.
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 # Z —

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(11)

(iif)

Price risk on listed securities under available-
for-sale investments and investments held for
trading (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

o investment revaluation reserves would
increase/decrease by HK$13,534,000
(2009: HK$25,497,000) for the Group as
a result of the changes in fair value of
available-for-sale investments.

Price risk on conversion option embedded in
convertible notes/convertible notes designated
at fair value through profit or loss

The Group is required to estimate the fair
value of the conversion options embedded in
the convertible notes and convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or
loss at the end of the reporting period with
changes in fair value to be recognized in profit
or loss as long as the convertible notes are
outstanding. The fair value adjustment will
be affected either positively or negatively,
amongst others, by the changes in share
price and its volatility of the convertible notes
issuers.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ir)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)  Price risk on conversion option embedded in

convertible notes/convertible notes designated
at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to the
change of share price and its volatility of the
convertible notes issuers at the reporting date.
In view of the less volatile current market
condition, the management decreased the
percentage from 25% to 5% in preparing the
sensitivity analysis in the current year.

If the share prices of those convertible notes
issuers had been 5% (2009: 25%) higher/
lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year would increase/decrease by HK$214,000
(2009: post-tax loss for the year would
decrease/increase by HK$182,000), as a
result of changes in fair value of conversion
options embedded in the convertible notes
and convertible notes designated at fair value
through profit or loss.

6.
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6b.
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Bt 75 AR MY B

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i1)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Price risk on conversion option embedded in
convertible notes/convertible notes designated
at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the volatility of share prices of those
convertible notes issuers had been 5% (2009:
25%) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year would increase/decrease
by HK$324,000 (2009: post-tax loss for the
year decrease/increase by HK$566,000), as a
result of changes in fair value of conversion
options embedded in the convertible notes
and convertible notes designated at fair value
through profit or loss.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analyses are unrepresentative of the inherent
market risk as the pricing model used in
the fair value valuation of the conversion
options embedded in the convertible notes
and convertible notes designated at fair
value through profit or loss and involves
multiple variables and certain variables are
interdependent.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. ¥ TR (&)

6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. HIBRERERBFERBE
(Continued) (#&)
(i) Liquidity risk (i) TEE 2 JE R

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilization of
the borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
based on the agreed repayment terms. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of reporting period.

EEERSE 2R
REEEE LR RE R
BRARBREHNZRAE R
ReFEEE UREAE
BeXBEBERTEESY
BERERERD ¥
Z-FEEEEERZE
PR B W AR 38 <7 B R
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 B Z=F—FF =H=+—HIUFZF

6b.

(Continued)

. . - e —d
6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. MBI AR (&
Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. AR5 FRE IR B AR MR
(%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) FTEELE R (F)
Liquidity tables HEE 2K
Contractual Less than
weighted 3 months Total Carrying
average oron 3 months Over undiscounted amount at
interest rate demand to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows 31.3.2010
RZZ2-2F
AHmME  OR=fA KERREE =ZA=t-H
THHE  IREXR =BAZ-§ -5ZIf RENE REEE ZEEE
% HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TER TR
2010 —2-%f%
Non-derivative financial FERBER
liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMERFE
- Interest bearing —ita 5.94 191,565 - - - 191,565 191,565
— Non-interest bearing —FEE - 95,208 - - - 95,208 95,208
Amounts due to related FERBELAE
companies
- Interest bearing —t & 7.00 88,468 - - - 88,468 88,468
— Non-interest bearing -G8 - 18,777 - - - 18,777 18,777
Amounts due to associates  FEFTEE & A RIFUR - 1,437 - - - 1,437 1,437
Amounts due to a minority  Eff— AL HRATE
shareholder - - - 227,279 - 227,279 174,641
Borrowings A 2.12 10,000 35,898 80,213 19,148 145,259 138,563
Convertible loan notes TRREFER 2.00 - 14,134 720,833 - 734,967 673,963
Financial guarantee contracts BT ERA 4 - 75,000 - - - 75,000 -
480,455 50,032 1,028,325 19,148 1,577,960 1,382,622
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. ¥ TR (&)

6b. Financial risk management objectives and policies 6b. HIBRERERBFERBE
(Continued) (#&)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) TEEzERE (E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TEEr k(&
Contractual Less than
weighted 3 months Total Carrying
average oron 3 months Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate demand to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows 31.3.2009
RIZENE
afimE  SRZER *hBERe ZA=T-H

ToUnE  AREXR ZEAE-F -FE1F BFRE RERE ZEHE
% HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TAT TR TET TAT TR TAT

2009 ZERNE
Non-derivative financial FERBER

liabilities
Trade and other payables ZHRAMEMNTE - 45,814 - - - 45,814 45,814
Amounts due to related ERBEAAE

companies

- Interest bearing —§t8 7.25 131,700 - - - 131,700 131,700

- Non-interest bearing -Tit 8 - 12,111 - - - 12,111 12,111
Bank overdrafts RTBX 5.79 24,068 - - - 24,068 24,068
Borrowings 5 362 10,000 57,603 82,071 40,478 190,152 175,313
Convertible loan notes TARENREE 2.00 - 14,134 734,967 - 749,101 650,872
Financial guarantee contracts ~ BT EERA 4 - 38,775 - - - 38,775 -

262468 71,737 817,038 0478 1191721 1,039,878

The undiscounted cash flows on financial guarantee MBEREN AR
contracts have been categorized into time bands CRERIEBE AR F
based on the earliest date the bank borrowings = HEE 2 BITE B IE
obtained by associates/ third parties are due for HEBERAMEZERK
repayment in accordance with loan repayment BRRERIAEE 2R
schedule agreed with respective lenders. FEH>ATRERA

Al e
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(1)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6c.

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices; and

o the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices or rates from observable
current market transactions as input. For an option-
based derivative, the fair value is estimated using
option pricing model.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to
3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities.

6.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

6c.

Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

6. MBITH (&)

6cC.

NFE (&)

R B BEN I K EHZ 2 F

EitE (&)

s F-RAFEEDKSE
—HFFAZHREN BE
ExREAAER (AER)
kfEZ (BERITE)BR
ZHABESGS -

s F=ZMAFEFEINE
AEt AL IFRIEABRD
BHEBEZEEXRABLEH
ABE(BLZERE AR

B)ZEEREST-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ Bk E=H B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FAEL FET
Financial assets BREE
Fair value through profit or loss BT ESFENEHA B
— Investments held for trading -RHEEERE 262 - - 262
— Conversion options embedded -~ RBREE LR
in convertible notes - - 894 894
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHENKEE 267,065 - - 267,065
Total kS| 267,327 - 894 268,221

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the
current year.

MARFE F—REE_LK2E

I 6 o
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. ¥ TR (&)

6¢.  Fair value (Continued) 6c. RNYVF1E(E)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of BHBEEEZE=RNFHEFTE
financial assets # R

Conversion options

embedded in
convertible notes
MRBRER
ZRBE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2009 A—ZETNFMA—H 158
Total gains or losses recognized BRI = BIE B 736
At 31 March 2010 R-E-—ZFF=A=+—H 894
7. Gross Proceeds 7. FRIERIRERE

Gross proceeds comprise revenue from sale of river sand and FriS BB R KRB HE Y RiZH
provision of water supply and gross proceeds from disposal of WK ZWAMBEFIEEERE
investments held for trading. An analysis of the Group's gross Z TS FIBRREMEK - NEE 2 AF

proceeds for the year is as follows: EFEREREITWT
2010 2009
—E—ZF ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Sales proceeds on trading of securities BHEECHEMBGNIA 6,263 381,618
Sale of river sand tHE A 52,848 32,224
Water supply oK 21,682 17,085

80,793 430,927
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

Segment Information

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 "Operating Segments”
with effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the executive directors)
in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard (HKAS 14,
“Segment Reporting”) required an entity to identify two sets
of segments (business and geographical) using a risks and
returns approach. In the past, the Group’s primary reporting
format was business segments. The application of HKFRS 8
has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s reportable
segments as compared with the primary reportable segments
determined in accordance with HKAS 14. Nor has the adoption
of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of measurement of segment
profit or loss.

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment focuses on the Group’s business operations.

Segment revenue and results

The Group's operating segment are as follows:

Trading of investments held
for trading

Property development - Development and sale of
and trading properties

Trading of securities -

Sand mining - Sale of river sand

Water supply - Provision of water supply

AEBERMNE_ZTAFNOA—
B A2 &8 B 15 3R & Rl F 85R
(&R -BEAEMBHREERIES
SRRE  AX BEERKE (AT
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Segment Information (Continued) |
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEWAREE (&)
An analysis of the Group's operating segment information by REENRE D 2 AEBKEENEE
operating segment is as follows: BzothmT:
Property
Trading of development Sand Water
securities  and trading mining supply Consolidated
MERRE
BHEE REE 237 itk R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TR TR TET TET TET
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-F-FE=f=1—HI
FE
GROSS PROCEEDS FEREHAE 6,263 - 52,848 21,682 80,793
REVENUE KA
Segment revenue AEBA - - 52,848 21,682 74,530
SEGMENT PROFIT (LOSS) 28RN (B8) 2,767 (528) (57,643) 4,856 (50,548)
Interest income FIEHA 100,544
Unallocated corporate income RABEERA 2,231
Unallocated corporate expenses KOBGESLH (26,827)
Finance costs BHHER (59,721)
Change in fair value of conversion ARBERZ AL
options embedded in convertible NTEEE
notes 736
Change in fair value of investment BRENEZATEES
properties 63,000
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale &R HHERE 2 Wia
investments 62,952
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRBRR .z Yiam 2,029
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—HBE R WE 21,742
Share of results of associates i AN+ 74,259

Profit before income tax

WA IS B AT A

190,397
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8. Segment Information (Continued) 8 AEEM (&

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

DRWAREE (&

Property
Trading of  development Sand Water
securities  and trading mining supply ~ Consolidated
MEER
EFEE REE R K wa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRL TR FHT THT TR
For the year ended 31 March 2009 AZ T NFE=A=+—HiI
FE
GROSS PROCEEDS FSMEAE 381,618 - 32,224 17,085 430,927
REVENUE A
Segment revenue AEYA - - 32,224 17,085 49,309
SEGMENT PROFIT (LOSS) K EEF (B]) (214,256) 3,549 (98,074) 6,147 (302,634)
Interest income FMBUWA 119,365
Unallocated corporate income APBEEKRA 1,846
Unallocated corporate expenses APBEETH (42,870)
Finance costs Bi%ER (61,746)
Change in fair value of conversion ARBER RAREZ
options embedded in convertible RYEEEY
notes (11,192)
Change in fair value of convertible BERATEIRLFABEZ
notes designated at fair value ARBRERIATEE
through profit or loss (8,304)
Change in fair value of investment BRENEZRATEED
properties (93,440)
Reversal of impairment loss on club EHEFNESERER
debenture 195
Loss on remeasurement to fair value ~ H{EHEZ HEEFIEH SR
less cost to sell in respect of disposal A FEREERA 2 B
group held for sale (255,570)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AT ERE 2 REFBE
investments (387,068)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale & A IHERE 2 W3k
investments 6,135
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRRZEE (156,169)
Share of results of associates EEBENAEE 18,813
Loss before income tax BR PTG B A0S 18 (1,172,639)




Segment Information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reporting segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents profit (loss) incurred by each
segment without allocation of unallocated corporate income,
interest income, unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs, change in fair value of conversion options embedded
in convertible notes, change in fair value of convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or loss, change in fair
value of investment properties, gain on disposal of available
for-sale-investments, impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments, loss on remeasurement to fair value less cost to
sell in respect of disposal group held for sale, gain (loss) on
disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of an associate and
share of results of associates. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision maker (i.e. executive directors) for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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aNy
28

8. Segment Information (Continued) 8 AEEM (&

Segment assets and liabilities PEEERARE
Property
Trading of development Sand Water
securities  and trading mining supply Consolidated
MERRE
FHEE REE 23 itk &E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TERT TERT TERT
At 31 March 2010 R-FE-FF=H=+—-H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NREE 11,238 1,503,618 57,066 154,589 1,726,511
Interests in associates L NGID 256,098
Convertible notes receivable JEWA R BEE 797,850
Available-for-sale investments AHREERE 443,420
Investment properties REME 221,000
Loans to associates BTHEAFER 109,433
Short-term loan receivable EREHER 1,000
Amounts due from related companies &4 18 1A 5] B 993
Bank balances and cash RIOEBRLEAS 716,337
Other unallocated assets HiRDEEE 18,337
Consolidated assets GARAE 4,290,979
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment liabilities HEERE 9,688 625,616 13,703 2,988 651,995
Borrowings [EE: 138,563
Convertible loan notes ARBREFREE 673,963
Deferred tax liabilities ELHEEE 41,724
Amounts due to related companies FEfTEE R AR 107,245
Other unallocated liabilities HEt AN EEE 47,177

Consolidated liabilities LAAE 1,660,667




Segment Information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
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8. ZHEHN (&

Property
Trading of  development Sand Water
securities  and trading mining supply  Consolidated
MEER
BHEE REE 23] ok )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT THT THT FEL
At 31 March 2009 R-FEENF=H=+—H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NEEE 9,047 212,945 155,314 155,904 533,210
Interests in associates BenRER 257,140
Convertible notes receivable YT R BB 822,074
Available-for-sale investments A EERE 385,132
Investment properties BREME 158,000
Loans to associates BYBERFER 106,855
Short-term loan receivable [EU IR ERE 103,552
Amounts due from related companies  [EUT B E A 7B 277,250
Bank balances and cash RIOTEBRLES 694,081
Other unallocated assets HEt R DB EE 281,644
Consolidated total assets RABEE 3,618,938
LIABILITIES 8%
Segment liabilities PHEBE 10,839 - 7,666 1,320 19,825
Borrowings and bank overdrafts BRRRITES 199,381
Convertible loan notes RRERER 650,872
Deferred tax liabilities EEREER 46,970
Amounts due to related companies ENEEARNE 143,811
Other unallocated liabilities HtA DB EE 115,581
Consolidated total liabilities LABBE 1,176,440

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, interests in
associates, convertible notes receivable, available-for-sale
investments, investment properties, loans to associates,
short-term loans receivable, amounts due from related
companies, conversion options embedded in convertible
notes, club debentures, deferred tax assets, certain other
receivables and prepayments, certain bank balances and
cash and tax recoverable; and

REEHERARRHFEEHEER
ER

BRETHE M RRE BE
NEREE AR T
HEENRE REME L TH
BREER BUEHER &
WRERRIGRIA A MER
A gmEs REREER
B AT E A EAGRIE M IR
I8 ETIRITASR MRS AR
WmiREs BEE DR ELE
DR R
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8.

—FEZASF—AULFE

Segment Information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

o liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than

unallocated other payables and accruals,

borrowings

and bank overdraft, convertible loan notes, amounts
due to related companies, tax payable and deferred tax

BEEKARE

&)

B R 2 B H L 8 A5 K08 e FE T
B BRRRITEX TR
ERFE  ENBEARNKEA
FERNRIBMEER AR EIN B

liabilities. BEIEREELEDE-
Other segment information HihpEER
Property
Trading of development Sand Water
securities  and trading mining supply Corporate Consolidated
WERR
EHEE REE 23] itk ¥ R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER TER TER TAR
For the year ended HE-F-FF=/
31 March 2010 =F—HUEE
Amounts included in the FEAEEN (BE) R
measure of segment profit PEBEMHEL
(loss) and segment assets k-
Additions to property, REME BRRRE
plant and equipment - - 1,304 756 52 2,112
Release of prepaid lease BNHEENRER
payments - - - 564 - 564
Amortization of BVEEHAH
intangible assets - - 3314 2,613 - 5,927
Depreciation e - - 11,903 4,855 1,123 17,881
Allowance for other receivables £ {th i It B B - - - - 425 425
Impairment loss on EREERBER
intangible assets - - 19,475 - - 19,475
Impairment loss on property, ~ ¥1E #E L
plant and equipment SEHEEE - - 28,892 - = 28,892




Segment Information (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

Annual Report 2009-20105% 106

DHEER (&)

Hipn SBEHR (&)

Trading of Sand Water
securities mining supply Corporate  Consolidated
EFHEE e itk ¥ e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THIT FET TR
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-FTNF=A=1—H
IFE
Amounts included in the measure HESERF (BE) R
of segment profit (loss) and AEEEMTELZ
segment assets X
Additions to property, REME BERR
plant and equipment - - 3,561 626 4,187
Release of prepaid lease payments EREERNRER - - 562 - 562
Amortization of intangible assets BREEEH - 4,018 2,613 - 6,631
Depreciation ne - 19,866 4,544 1,050 25,460
Allowance for other receivables Hit BRI RE - - - 4,619 4,619
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREESE - 19,655 - - 19,655
Impairment loss on intangible assets ~ #FEEFEFE - 12,165 - - 12,165
Impairment loss on property, mE- BER
plant and equipment FEREER - 47,659 - - 47,659
Geographical Information % & K

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the
location of customers and information about its non-current

BEFPMEMEI D AKERBINDE
PZWA  ARImEEMEMEID 2

assets by geographical location of the assets detailed below:

FRBEEESFLAOT

Revenue from external

customers Non current assets
REMBEFZHA FRBEE
2010 2009 2010 2009

=§-%F -—TTNEF -¥-%F -"ITIAF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR TR THR

Hong Kong BB - - 446,999 257,534
PRC M 74,530 49,309 222,565 308,694

74,530 49,309 669,564 566,228
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred M3t SERBEETBIEMETANELE

tax assets.

MIRERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 # Z —

—FE= A —AUFEE

Segment Information (Continued) 8. ARBER (&
Information about major customers EREXERFP 2EH
For the year ended 31 March 2010, there was one customer RBE-_T-—FTF=-HA=+—81t
who accounted for over 10% of total revenue with revenue of FE - HRKOBE-—RZREFMGHEKA
HK$16,772,000 (2009:HK$12,380,000) related to the water #10% BN A 516,772,000 7T
supply segment. (ZZZh% 12,380,000 7T) °
For the year ended 31 March 2010, there were three REE-_ T ZF=-A=1+—HILHF
customers who accounted for over 10% of total revenue JERESS J‘”\*E\Z_%%)E'fﬁ,w%]\ﬁ
with revenue of HK$15,143,000, HK$12,926,000 and 10% * B A DB A15,143,000%8
HK$10,198,000 respectively (2009: Nil) related to the sand 7T+ 12,926,000/% 7T 210,198,000/
mining segment. T(ZZEZTNF: &) -
Other Income 9. HfgA
2010 2009
—E-=5F —ETAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest income on bank deposits, RITER BER M EWFKIE
loans and receivables Z MBI A
— Interest on bank deposits —IRITIFENF B 4,727 5,237
— Imputed interest on convertible notes —JT&E\H&Z—L%&%
receivable BEENE 80,477 57,594
— Interest on short-term loans receivable —EWEBE RS 5,037 8,292
— Interest on loans to associates —ﬁ"%ﬁ@‘ﬁ%@ BB 93 95
— Interest on amounts due — R = mlﬁﬂ B
from related companies 9,768 22,030
100,102 93,248
Interest income on available-for-sale A ERE 2R B A
investment - 21,767
Interest income on convertible notes EERRAFE AR AE
designated at fair value w2 Al RMER 2 MBI
through profit or loss A 442 4,350
Exchange gain B 5 IR s 3,338 -
Dividend income & B4k A = 5,107
Rental income HelA 5,013 3,549
Management fee income BEEEIWA 600 2,952
Others Hity 5,348 2,674
114,843 133,647
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10.Finance Costs 10. M E & A
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FH&IT
Interest on borrowings wholly repayable  BRAFANBEEE 2 EBX
within five years: A
— Bank borrowings and overdrafts —RITERNEX 1,546 4,400
— Other borrowings —H A ER 15,291 16,846
Interest on bank borrowings not wholly BERAFRNELEE 2R
repayable within five years TT1E A 2 1,177 3,276
Interest on other payables H fth F& A FRIE 2 FIE 2,630 -
Imputed interest on convertible ﬂ?ﬁﬂﬁ,ﬁk?&?ﬁZﬁM M2
loan notes 37,224 37,224
Imputed interest on amount due to JE — % D BUR R FRIE 2 ff
a minority shareholder HFE 1,853 -
59,721 61,746
11.(a) Loss on Remeasurement to 11. (a) BHEHEEZLE

Fair Value Less Cost to Sell in
Respect of Disposal Group Held
for Sale

For the year ended 31 March 2009

In March 2009, the directors of the Company committed
a plan to dispose of the Group’s 24.3% interest in PSC
Corporation Ltd (“PSCL"), an associate of the Group,
whose shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. Accordingly, the carrying
amount of interests in associates in PSCL was reclassified
as assets held for sale and presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2009.

FErEAA $EW%%
Az &8

RA T(ftm $EIZH9“*
“T H A AT I AR ZE 75
RBARRG LET)Z2243%
oAl REB 2B SR F
ﬁéﬁzﬁﬁﬁ@éé%ﬁ“*ﬁ%h
EHEEETR —_TETNEFE=
A=+—BzHEA0KRIE
NEBZ5 -
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11.(a) Loss on Remeasurement to 1. (a) FEHEECHEHRNE
Fair Value Less Cost to Sell in M BRAFEBHE
Respect of Disposal Group Held A ZEE (F)
for Sale (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Continued) BE_% z TAF=ZA=F+—H
IFFEE (&)
On 8 April 2009, the Company entered into a F—gghimmj /\AE VAL
conditional sale and purchase agreement to dispose ;.T_éﬁ{l;ﬂ# E\AQE:/T%% & J/‘/\\u“_n%
of the 24.3% interest in PSCL at a cash consideration %@224-3%%5'_%%&%7’%
of SGD21,189,783 (equivalent to approximately 21:189,783*)@['}9575 (FEFRE
HK$111,013,000). 111,013,000 7T) °
The assets classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2009 RZFTNF=A 7—1—:5
aN
for the 24.3% interest in PSCL was as follows: @5224-3%% m P ED BB
fEIHECEEWMT :
2009
ZEENF
HK$'000
TAET
Carrying amounts of interest in an associate REFDBEDBEABEHELE
at the date of reclassification to assets HE B & QAR 2 BREE
classified as held for sale (Note 1) (Bratr) 366,583
Less: Loss on remeasurement to fair value D RABEHEE 2 EEEMN
less cost to sell in respect of assets FAEARTFEREERAZ
classified as held for sale (Note 2) &8 (Kat2) (255,570)
Assets classified as held for sale BEOBERBIEHEZEE 111,013
Notes: et :
1. Included in the interest in an associate was goodwill of 1. %_Jr)\%'i‘%@j%\ w2 HERH
HK$38,979,000 relating to acquisition of interests in PSCL 2%18'979'000’%75\ Eﬂﬁv’%ﬁﬁ/\
in previous year. VAR F WS gl 2 i o
2. The amount of HK$255,570,000 represented the loss on 2. ?%2\55'570'0995%775?5§¥ﬁ
remeasurement to fair value less cost to sell, which was E'I:E;#" I{E’W%%EX$Z
calculated based on the difference between the carrying }iﬂg DIRBEN D BRR
amount of interests in PSCL upon reclassification and the RS REERRSA

cash consideration of HK$111,013,000. {8111,013,000/% 7T 2 % 885t

e
H o
B
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11.(b) Gain on Disposal of interest in 1. (b) EE—HBE QA ER

an Associate 2 Wz
On 4 May 2009, the disposal of 24.3% interest in PSCL HEEHZ243% RN =
was completed and a gain on disposal of an associate gﬂiﬂﬂ MHESEK IR E
of HK$21,742,000 was recognized in profit or loss E-FE-FF=A=+—HIt
for the year ended 31 March 2010. The gain mainly ﬁrZTéﬁ_ﬁﬁ?ﬁwﬁﬁ—Fﬁ i &
represents the reclassification of the cumulative exchange AR 221,742,000 71:1451 i o
differences from currency translation reserve and the ZEREEZEERNEEERZ
Group's share of fair value gain on available-for-sale 243% R BBIELFEELR
investments upon disposal of 24.3% interest in PSCL. HENEREFTHPEREAEER
JEML P IHEIRE N P EWE
12.Income Tax Credit 12. REHER
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FH&IT
The credit comprises: BRBEIE !
Profits tax: MEH -
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBEFER
— Current year —KEE - 7,460
— Overprovision in prior year —BAFEBRBEEE (5,967) (3,978)
Overseas REgN 1,326 1,446
(4,641) 4,928
Deferred tax (note 40) EIERLIE (47 5240)
- Current year —KFE (5,205) (36,567)
— Attributable to a change in tax rate — AR R FmE - (1,360)

(9,846) (32,999)
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

12.Income Tax Credit (Continued) 12.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1

January 2008 onwards.

Income tax arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the

rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the
profit (loss) before income tax per the consolidated statement

of comprehensive incomes as follows:

FRi&BIR R (&)

MEFE 2 BB NSRGEER
B AR 16.5% 5T &

BEPEARLMBCEMESH A
(IEEMBRE]) REEMBRIE
ZERME - _ZEENF—H—H
AR BEE AR 2 HEA25% °

HEEMADEERIEL ZAEHRIZAE
FARDAER < RITHEE -

RERZFREMEBREGS 2 EWEK
WERFTS T AT R F (EE) 2 HER N
T

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FETT
Profit (loss) before income tax BRATSFAT S A (BE) 190,397 (1,172,639)
Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% REATE16.5%
HE A 31,416 (193,485)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE{HEEE N EIHELE 2
MBTE (12,253) (3,104)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEHBRAZHBZE
purposes (15,786) (2,795)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  TEEFIFRFI X 2 FRIE &
tax purposes 6,142 137,943
Overprovision in respect of prior years NS EBERE (5,967) (3,978)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized RERBIABE
MBTE 3,827 34,324
Utilization of tax losses previously not BRI ARERZ
recognized MIEEE (13,770) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M EM B EE R KL 2 B
operating in other jurisdictions RAZTRABE B (3,455) (544)
Tax effect of change in tax rate MEBB o BBLE - (1,360)
Income tax credit for the year KEZEHRER (9,846) (32,999)
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receivables

13.Profit (Loss) for the Year 13. Fim# (BiE)
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived ~ FREF| (E18) TRk
at after charging (crediting): (Gt A) MO B BB ES:
Staff costs (including directors’ BEINA (BRESEWS) :
emoluments):
Salaries and other benefits Fre kAEART 17,835 19,210
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREFET IR
contributions 441 705
18,276 19,915
Release of prepaid lease payments ENEENFEE 564 562
Amortization of intangible assets B EE#E
(included in administrative expenses) (BEstATTEAS) 5,927 6,631
Depreciation of property, ME B RBRETE
plant and equipment 17,881 25,460
Allowance for other receivables E A W FROB 425 4,619
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B & 3,428 5,132
Loss of disposal of property, HEWHE HEREEZ
plant and equipment (g - 41
Exchange (gain) loss FEH (k) B8 (3,338) 6,372
Reversal of allowance for trade B 5 e W F IR B E R




113 Hanny Holdings Limited $#EEEER AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 B Z=F—FF =H=+—HIUFZF

14.Directors’ and Employees’

Remuneration

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 5 (2009:

7) directors were as follows:

14. EE N & & &N

(@ E=HM

ENEENTFRER(ZZEE
NF:7R)EBZMEWT:

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Chan Kwok Keung, Charles BREISR (R=_TZENF
(retired on 26 September 2008) NAZ+RERE)
Fees we N/ATE -
Other emoluments: EMie -
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF N/ATE A -
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFIET B
contributions N/ATE A -
N/ATE A -
Yap, Allan Yap, Allan
Fees we 100 100
Other emoluments: HAn i< -
Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 2,400 2,400
Retirement benefits scheme RIKTEFIET B3R
contributions 12 12
2,512 2,512
Chan Kwok Chuen, Augustine PREISZZ (R NF
(appointed on 26 September NAZ+BEZE)
2008)
Fees we 120 62
Other emoluments: Hib i< -
Salaries and other benefits HehHEMET - -

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions

R KRR N IR

120 62




14.Directors’ and Employees’

Remuneration (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

(a)
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E=M (&)

14. ZE=ZREEFHM (&)

2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard R (RZEZNF—A
(resigned on 9 January 2009) NBBET)
Fees we N/ATE A -
Other emoluments: HAnf < -
Salaries and other benefits e kEMEF N/ATE A 2,263
Retirement benefits scheme RIKIEFET B3R
contributions N/ATE A 88
N/ATE A 2,351
Kwok Ka Lap, Alva Elc=va
Fees we 48 48
Other emoluments: HEMife -
Salaries and other benefits FHeREMET - -
Retirement benefits scheme RIKIE R B3R
contributions - -
48 48
Sin Chi Fai A e
Fees e 54 54
Other emoluments: HAan i< -
Salaries and other benefits FeREMET - -
Retirement benefits scheme EREFETEI 3R
contributions - -
54 54
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14.Directors’ and Employees’
Remuneration (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

14. EEREEFHM (&)

(a)

E=HM (&)

2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FEBT
Poon Kwok Hing, Albert & B B
Fees e 50 50
Other emoluments: H A5 -
Salaries and other benefits FekEMET - -
Retirement benefits scheme RIKIEFIET B3R
contributions = -
50 50
Total &5
Directors’ fees Rk 372 314
Other emoluments: HAn i< -
Salaries and other benefits e hEMEF 2,400 4,663
Retirement benefits scheme RIKTEFIET B3R
contributions 12 100
2,784 5,077
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14.Directors’ and Employees’ 14 EEZRhEEFM ()
Remuneration (Continued)
(b)  Employees’ remuneration (b) 1& B %
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals of @E:%—%iz\ﬂ é—'—_ H
the Group included one director for the year ended 31 EFE- %%ﬁmﬂf%%}\i
March 2010 (2009: two directors), whose emoluments @%*%%% (:g%@h\i |
are included in (a) above. The aggregate emoluments of %) HBMEeBE 25K EX(@) -
the remaining individuals are as follows: R AL ZBE@mmT
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTEENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Salaries and other benefits e kHAMRER 4,102 3,467
Performance related incentive HXMEB RS
payments 423 -
Retirement benefit scheme RKEF T2 205 173
4,730 3,640

Number of employees

EE A"
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZT A JTE1,000,000/8 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018 7t £ 1,500,000
BT 1 _
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001;8 7C £2,000,000
BT _ 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t £2,500,000
BT 1 _
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For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z — &

15.Dividend

The final dividend of HK1.5 cents in respect of the year ended
31 March 2010 (2009: Nil) per share has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

16.Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

—FE= A —AUFEE

15.

16.

Hx BN

Exgaiaz_—_T-—FTF=H
=+ —BLEFERMNRABRE K
158 (ZFFTNF E) HARF
BRNEERRBFAEG LA

BRERN (FE)

N

o

ARAEBEARESRERARE SR
A (B8 DIRA T BUREH

the following data:

Earnings (loss):

a7 (&HE)

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Profit (loss) for the year attributable AEERERREERA
to owners of the Company for the (EB1B) 2 ARREHEE AE
purposes of basic and diluted earnings HERNRMN (FEE)
(loss) per share 188,731 (1,145,222)
Number of shares: RHDEE :
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
‘000 ‘000
F B F &
(Note)
(Hiat)
Weighted average number of ordinary AESRERREERA
shares for the purposes of basic and (BE) ZEBEK
diluted earnings (loss) per share B EE 524,741 151,509
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. n = =
16.Earnings (Loss) Per Share 16. BREBA (BFE) (&)

(Continued)

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2009, the weighted average It - mﬁﬁ:g?ﬂfzﬂ 5+_F\¢
number of ordinary shares has been adjusted for the effect of ¢f§ ' gkkﬂu*§$iﬁ§yﬁ BERR
share consolidation and the rights issue under open offer which Eif‘—_/:_%é;ﬁﬂﬁ:ﬁ] —t+—HItF
occurred during the year ended 31 March 2009. FHET BN EHEARBEEET

ZHRFEmMEL -

HE-T-TER-_TTAE=A

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2010 S+ —HILEEY SREBEERFN &
and 2009 does not assume the conversion of convertible loan BB T AR B SR P i TR SR IR A
notes and the exercise of the warrants as the exercise price of BETE BEBARREE R
the warrants and convertible loan notes was higher than the EHEESTPER-_E-—TER

average market price for the year 2010 and 2009. EENETIHTFEAS -
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17.Property, Plant and Equipment 17. M5 - R R

Furniture, Sand
Plant and  fixtures and Motor mining
Buildings machinery  equipment vehicles vessels Total
HRE RE
BF HEREW B AE RofH BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEL FET TET TR
cosT R
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ/N\ENA—A 83,793 3,969 8,262 4,181 171,727 277,932
Currency realignment EHHE 1,458 85 2 (170) 3,757 5,132
Additions B - 3,042 68 1,077 - 4,187
Disposals HE - - (1 (134) - (135)
Written off W - - (2,813) - - (2,813)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF
=R=1+—H 85,251 7,096 5518 4,954 181,484 284,303
Currency realignment E¥AE 477 50 1 (46) 1,250 1,732
Additions NE 208 1,450 60 394 - 2,112
Written off k= - - - (858) - (858)
At 31 March 2010 RZZB-2F
=A=+—A 85,936 8,596 5,579 4,444 182,734 287,289
DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ/N\FNA—A 7,274 317 6,521 1,861 37,695 53,668
Currency realignment ERRE 57 7 1 (170) 665 560
Provided for the year KEFEE 4,101 334 491 849 19,685 25,460
Impairment loss recognized RERERZREEE
in profit or loss - - - - 47,659 47,659
Eliminated on disposals o R - - - (77 - (77
Written off sy - - (2,813) - - (2,813)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF
=ZR=1+—*H 11,432 658 4,200 2,463 105,704 124,457
Currency realignment ERRE 59 7 1 (56) 780 791
Provided for the year REEEE 4128 652 448 811 11,842 17,881
Impairment loss recognized RERBRZAEEE
in profit or loss - - - - 28,892 28,892
Written off s - - - (858) - (858)
At 31 March 2010 RZZ-FF=R
=+—H 15,619 1,317 4,649 2,360 147,218 171,163
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2010 R-E-ZF
=A=+—A 70,317 7,279 930 2,084 35,516 116,126
At 31 March 2009 RZZENF
=A=+—8H 73,819 6,438 1,318 2,491 75,780 159,846
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18.

.Property, Plant and Equipment

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum.

Buildings Over the period of the leases
or 2% — 5%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10% — 33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
Sand mining vessels 10%

The Group's buildings are situated on a land in PRC with
medium-term leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the directors
identified indication of impairment loss for the Group's
sand mining vessels due to the downturn in operating
economic environment and keen competition in the industry
and conducted a review on the recoverable amounts of
the sand mining vessel and the related cash-generating
unit. Management of the Group identified an impairment
loss on the sand mining vessels of HK$28,892,000 (2009:
HK$47,659,000) and recognized in profit or loss. Details of
impairment testing on sand mining vessels are set out in note
21.

Investment Properties
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17. W% - B R&iE (&)

bty s RRERE DIRER

ERATFERITE -

EF BT HN
2% — 5%

HENHEH  10% - 20%

RA -E#E 10% — 33%

B
R 20% — 25%
R 10%

AEBZBEFMRHE—RHHEY
T

HREEEBERBEEENITERNR
FRZ HMESEREHE-_ZT—TF=
AZ+—BLFEREZRAEBEK
WHMREEBBZTR TEMEY
MEEERSEAEM ZTKRE S
B AEBEREERRYMZRAE
[E51828,892,0008 L (Z T L -
47,659,000/8 70) * W B = A T A
R EEEPMZRENR ZFE
B EE21 o

18. REY =

HK$'000
TFHET

FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 April 2008 RZZFEZENFMNA—H 250,000
Additions NE 1,440
Decrease in fair value recognized in profit or loss RBERERZ AFERD (93,440)
At 31 March 2009 N_ZEZNF=-A=+—H 158,000
Increase in fair value recognized in profit or loss REEERZ A FEIE N 63,000
At 31 March 2010 AZE—FF=-fA=+—H 221,000
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—FE= A —AUFEE

. . s g e
18.Investment Properties (Continued) 18. REY= (&)
The fair value of the Group's investment properties at 31 AEERENMER_ZT—ZTF=H
March 2010 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation =+—BzZA qZTEJ//(%_LTETE B 1T
carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent KAFTEIEREM B R A R#EIT 2
valuers. The valuation of the Group’s investment properties EREEETFT AEEZREMEM
was arrived at by reference to recent market prices for similar @Ef@%%ﬁﬂ%&ﬂﬁ 5R7|‘E WZ*H el
properties in the same locations and conditions. During the MEREMEEE #BZE —ZF
year ended 31 March 2010, a gain on fair value change in =A=+— Eiﬂ:ﬁrm E/\TE 5 R
investment properties amounting to HK$63,000,000 (2009: REWEN quﬁ """"" @JHQ $63,000,000
loss on fair value change of HK$93,440,000) was recognized in BT (ZEENF  AFEEZFEIR
profit or loss. 93,440,000/ 7T ) °
The investment properties are held under long leases and are HEYHEURBHOFTEIURSE
situated in Hong Kong. A o
All of the Group's investment properties held under operating REERRIE S 8 AL E MR
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes EMNFELMBREMERATE
are measured using fair value model and are classified and RAFE WD ERARIBRED
accounted for as investment properties. £
. £ £k
19.Prepaid Lease Payments 19. BABRE N
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands AEBZENHEENKBEEFER
in the PRC held under medium-term land use rights. BT ERERE 2 HE T
2010 2009
—2-%F —ZETAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Analyzed for reporting purposes as: BEWMB BT EL DA
Non-current asset FmBEE 7,219 7,732
Current asset mENE E 566 562
7,785 8,294
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. AT
20.Intangible Assets 20. BILEE
Operating
right to
Customer water supply
contracts business Total
kB
BEFEHN RERER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET TET
COST R
At 1 April 2008, 31 March RZZEZNFOA—A =
2009 and 31 March 2010 TENF=—A=T—HK
—ZET-TF=A=+—H 91,735 13,395 105,130
AMORTIZATION o
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZENFIMA—H 2,377 223 2,600
Charge for the year FAHR 6,116 515 6,631
Impairment loss recognized FRNERBEEE
in the year 12,165 - 12,165
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZETNAF=R=+—H 20,658 738 21,396
Charge for the year FAHR 5,412 515 5,927
Impairment loss recognized FARRREERE
in the year 19,475 - 19,475
At 31 March 2010 R-ZZE—ZTF=ZA=+—H 45,545 1,253 46,798
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-—FTF=A=+—H 46,190 12,142 58,332
At 31 March 2009 R-BEAF=A=+—H 71,077 12,657 83,734
The above intangible assets was purchased as part of the B EERBE_SZEN\F=
acquisition of the Regrowth Resources Limited (water supply R=+—BLFERN ERKENE
business) and RxmEERZME S HEMR DA (sand mining BRABBRAR (HKER) RRZEM
business) during the year ended 31 March 2008. EEEVMESBERAR (KW EK)

B —#B7 °
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20.Intangible Assets (Continued)

21

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognized
an impairment loss of HK$19,475,000 (2009: HK$12,165,000)
in relation to the customer contracts included in intangible
assets arising on acquisition of sand mining business. Details of
impairment testing on intangible assets was set out in note 21.

The above intangible assets have finite lives and are amortized

BE (#)

REE-_Z—ZTF=A= + SN
B AEEBRBEURFAHNZRE
E53819,475,000% 7T (_EE%?RE :
12,165,000 7T) " T AMEE H D %
BEEZEREE BREERENR
HZFBHAME21 -

/\\\

tABBEEEZERBER R T7

on a straight-line basis over following periods: MR E R AR
Customers contracts 10 — 15 years BEFEAHK 10 — 154
Operating right to water supply business 26 years K EB L ERET 26%F
.Goodwill 21. &
HK$'000
FET
cosT A
At 1 April 2008, 31 March 2009 and RZZFEZENFHA—B - ZZTZAN
31 March 2010 FZ=A=+—BRZZ—TF=
A=+—H 33,145
IMPAIRMENT LOSS BEEE
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZENFMNA—H 6,621
Impairment loss recognized in the year FANRRBIAEARERE 19,655
At 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 RZZEZNF=ZA=+T—HBEZ=Z
—ZEF=A=+—H 26,276
CARRYING AMOUNTS AREE
At 31 March 2010 WR_ZE-TF=A=+—H 6,869
At 31 March 2009 R_ZEZAF=A=+—H 6,869

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill,

and

intangible assets with finite useful lives, property, plant and
equipment with finite useful lives and prepaid lease payment

with finite useful lives are set out below:

BERmE RAEAREAFHZIER

ﬁé‘ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁiﬁﬂzf@%‘%
MEEANEEERERFRN A

Hfﬁ?‘fﬁ KRB R FFIRI T



21.Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill have been
allocated to three individual cash generating units (CGUs),
including water supply business, sand mining business — H 52
TES and sand mining business — BE 3 T0030% &Rz
72089, whose operating assets also include intangible assets
with finite useful lives (as set out in note 20), property, plant
and equipment (as set out in note 17) and prepaid lease
payment (as set out in note 19). The carrying amounts of
goodwill, intangible assets (net of accumulated impairment
losses), property, plant and equipment (net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses), and prepaid lease
payment (net of accumulated depreciation) as at 31 March
2010 and 2009 in these units are as follows:

21.
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B2 (&)

ABETREIR BEEHIRE=
AR cELAEN(ReELEERE
1)  Hh Rk ER R %K —
ETEEMEWERE-—BRET
0030 BHZER089 X HEBF 2K
EMEENRREAEEREAFH
B EE (FNMHE20) W3 e
N (FNWE17) RFENEE R
HK(ERWTI19) RZE—FTFK
—ERAF=A=+—8 ZEHBMN
ZEE EREE (MR RFHRAER
1B) W 2 R (kR RETIT
ENRERE) REMBENK (30
BREFITE) ZEREENT

Prepaid Property,
lease payments plant and equipment Goodwill Intangible assets
ANHEEAR ME BERRE BE B EE
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-BF “ZTNF -B-BF “TTNF "B-BF "TTNF “B-BF “ZTTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRET TEL TR TAET TR THER TR TER
Water supply business HKER 7,785 8,294 77,189 80,824 6,869 6,869 38,867 41,480
Sand mining business RYXB
-REMES -REMES - - 5,782 10,648 - - 19,465 42,254
Sand mining business EI7ES) )
- BRET0030% —BRET0030%
BRE089 BR%2089 = - 30,974 65,132 - - - -
7,785 8,294 113,945 156,604 6,869 6,869 58,332 83,734
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21.Goodwill (Continued)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of above CGUs and their
major underlying assumptions are summarized below:

Cash generating unit of water supply business

The recoverable amount of these unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. For impairment purpose,
the calculation uses cash flow projections based on the most
recent financial budgets approved by the management for the
coming year and extrapolates the cash flows projection for the
following 5 years with 3% (2009: 3%) growth rate and for the
further 20 years with zero growth rate and discount rate of
17% (2009: 17%). Another key assumptions for the value in
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation
is based on the unit's past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, management of the
Group determines that there are no impairments of this CGU
containing goodwill and intangible assets.

4 =

Cash generating unit of sand mining business - Rz = &

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. For impairment purpose,
the calculation uses cash flow projections based on the most
recent financial budgets approved by the management for the
coming year and extrapolates the cash flows projection for
the following 10 years with zero growth rate (2009: zero) and
discount rate of 17% (2009: 18%). Another key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the unit's past performance and
management'’s expectations for the market development.

—EE=Z A —HUEE

21. & (&)

PR ELEEM 2 RESENE
TERBRRZEEGR DT :

WKREBHZREELEN

REfzZ A WE B DREERE
Tﬁﬁ-l—rv—/iﬁéﬂ:_ E’ﬁﬂ@ﬁ‘ﬁ "’ u/<|:1 7%—
EERBRERIEA - mIRE RIER A
ERNERBRAFEBZOHARM
BEE  WRE3%IERE (ZZTTAN
F 3% )HEERKRDLFARRBREE
BEEHEARAR_TFZzZREMNE
Bl AR E B17% (ZEZ NF:
17%) - EREBEAEEZS X2
R Eﬁiiﬁium)\Zﬁ.ﬁrﬁﬁa ( F'_,%Eié:
HHEBREMNE) ZEMHFTIR
BAEM ZBERRRERBEHMS
BR2EHmMET -

RBE-_ZT-TF=-_A=1t—HLLF
Z $%‘%la£¥ﬁ-§m$ﬁ@?$
L (BEHELETVEE)LELR
A -

ol
Tl

RYEBREELEN-R=T

=
=

ANEENI Z AT Bl & 5B AR REE
SHELET -MBEMS &t E)
FAReREN  MIReRIERAE
#MEE%X¢Lﬂ2?L%MﬁE

HE UREBETERXR(ZETNF:
@ﬁ%$X+¢2ﬁiMEWE£
BRE1T7T% (ZZEZHF:18%) °
FAREENELAZS —FTERKXER
ERAZE AR (BRIEBEHER
MEFEK) ZEMETTIREAREN
JBEIRBNERBEEMSERZTE
HAMmE E -



21.Goodwill (Continued)

+

Cash generating unit of sand mining business — R &
(Continued)

Eﬂn}

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognized
an impairment loss of HK$19,475,000 (2009: HK$12,165,000)
and HK$4,780,000 (2009: HK$3,065,000) in relation to
customer contracts included in intangible assets and sand
mining vessels respectively on this CGU. During the year
ended 31 March 2009, an amount of goodwill amounting to
HK$19,655,000 was fully impaired and recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash generating unit of sand mining business — E 8 5 T 0030
N B R 54089

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. For impairment purpose,
the calculation uses cash flow projections based on the most
recent financial budgets approved by the management for the
coming year and extrapolates the cash flows projection for
the following 10 years with zero growth rate (2009: zero) and
discount rate of 17% (2009: 18%). Another key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the unit's past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognized
an impairment loss of HK$24,112,000 (2009: HK$44,594,000)
in relation to the sand mining vessels included in property,
plant and equipment of this CGU.
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21. 58 (&)

RO ReEL B - RETE
2 (%)

HE-_Z—ZTF=-A=+—HILHF
B AEES B ARSEESEM
ANBFEEZRFPAEHREDMER
A E 19,475,000 L (Z 2T A,
% 12,165,000 T ) K 4,780,000
BRL(ZEZNLF: 3,065,000%
L) REE_ZETZhAhF=ZA=1+—
BIEEE 19,655,000 T2 AED
PEURE WRIBEER -

EWEBZRSELEN -—BERET
00308 B 522089

REfz o]k El &5 R EFAEE
HEABTE -MRMEMS %Kit EE
AR RIEA . MIRe mTEA A&
REREARFTBBZROPIBE
é‘Imﬁfﬁﬁr(_77ﬂ¢

TIMERRTFE 2R RTED B
WEAE17% (ZTTNF 18%) °
FREBEMELAZS TEBRRER
ERAZHTER (BREBEHESE
MEFRER) ZEEHTBRIBEAREN
CBAERRLEREEMSERZTE
HIMETE -

RBZE-_Z—ZF=A=+—AHILHF
g ZK%la-dczrkiﬁiFE 8\ 2 B
M (THRFAEE - B R R 1%)1'@%/)%
E§54824,112,0008 T (ZZEZ A, :
44,594,000/ 7T) ©
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22.Interests in Associates

22, B A A3

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cost of investment in associates RTYHBERAIREZK
which are: ¥
— unlisted (note a) —3E kT (Hfita) 221,117 176,117
Share of post-acquisition profit (loss) and &/ WEEEEF (E1B) &
other comprehensive income, Hibh2mEBA -
net of dividends received B U A% B 34,981 (29,990)
256,098 146,127
Interests in associates included in FFADBEAREHEE
assets classified as held for sale BEZBE NG EZR
(note b) (note 11) (Biatb) (Kiat11) - 111,013

Notes:

Kt

a. The amount as at 31 March 2009 represents 26% equity interest a.

in China Enterprises Limited (“CEL").

On 31 December 2009, the Group acquired 30% equity
interests in Fortune Well Holdings Limited (“Fortune Well"”) at a

cash consideration of HK$45,000,000.

b. The amount as at 31 March 2009 represented the Group's b.
24.3% interest in PSCL, as more fully described in note 11(a).

RZZEZNF=ZA=-+—Bz&5HiE
# China Enterprises Limited ([CEL J)
26% 2 B #E o

R_ZEBNE+-_A=+—B K&
[E Uz 8% Fortune Well Holdings Limited
([Fortune Well ])30% %4 - R& X
& /445,000,000 7T

RZZEZNE=ZA=+—2&FELX
SEPTRF Y 2243%E 5 B
TEET1() ©



Notes: (Continued)

22.Interests in Associates (Continued)

Details of the Group's principal associates as at 31 March 2009
and 2010 are as follows:

Place of
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22. BE N TR ()
et ()
C. AEERZZETZNER T —TF=
A=+—HZEXZBHEQRZFEN
T

Proportion of

incorporation/ Place of equity interest
Name of associate establishment operation attributable to the Group  Principal activities
AL,
BENT LM BR 3L 3t B EE R FEBELRELSG TEER
2010 2009
—Z2-2F —ZENF
% %
Fortune Well British Virgin Hong Kong and PRC 30 - Manufacturing and
Islands (“BVI")  &HERH trading of garments
REBRAES products
([RBREX RRREE IR
BEl) BEXH
CEL Bermuda Hong Kong and PRC 26 26 Investment holding
BRE ERERTH REZR
PSCL Singapore Singapore - 24.3  Supply of household
T K N consumer products

Fortune Well’s subsidiaries operate in both Hong Kong and the
PRC.

CEL’s subsidiaries operate in both Hong Kong and the PRC and
its shares are traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board in
the United States of America. The financial year end date is 31
December. The Group's share of net assets and interests of CEL
at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 is calculated based on
the net assets of CEL as at 31 December 2008 and 31 December
2009, after adjusting for any material transactions up to 31
March 2009 and 31 March 2010.

HEXBEER

Fortune WellZ fB R AR EH B &+
B o

CELZKIBRRINES RPEILE -
HBROEXRSIRFEERES -
FREEHIBHAT=_A=+—
B REBERBECELA-ZEZNE=A
=t+t—-BE-_ZE-ZTE=A=+—H
ZBEFERER NIRBCELR -Z
ENF+ZA=+—BR=ZZEZTNF
T+ A=+ —BZ2BEFRE KHE
E_EEREF=A=+—AR_ZE—
£ A=t—BZ2AAEARS#

et g
ARERTE -

H

a4
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22.Interests in Associates (Continued) 22. B#EAREEz (&)

Notes: (Continued) Wiat: (&)

(Continued)

PSCL is a company listed in the Republic of Singapore and its
financial year end date is 31 December. The Group has equity
accounted for its share of interest in PSCL up to 3 March 2009
(being the date of classification of interest in PSCL as assets
held for sale) based on the net assets and results of PSCL at
31 December 2008, extracted from the published financial
information of PSCL, and after adjusting for any material
transactions up to 3 March 2009.

The above tables list the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the
Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group at the end of the reporting period. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

(#&)

TR AR NEEANMBE L2
REHUBFEEHEEART A
=t—B-AEERGHERBEE_ZF
ENF=ZRA=R(ARERz2EED
BARIFHEREZAY) 2 T
BEBELERR -_TENF+_A=+—
BzEESE(BHERETRETI#RZ
VBEMUREHE_FTTNEF=
AZRAZEMEAR ZETHEEE
B W ARRD B

ERNBFZAEEHERR DES
RRIBFEAREAFEZEEL
BRARERRRPREEFEEK
B2 AR - BERA FEAMEE
AAEHEEHRRBRITE -
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22.Interests in Associates (Continued) 22. BE& R REm (&)

Notes: (Continued)

Wiz (%)

c.  (Continued) c (&)

The summarized financial information in respect of the Group's REHBENFRBERGHEAR

associates under equity method of accounting is set out below: 2 BERBI T
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETRF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Total assets BE#E 1,167,344 771,205
Total liabilities BERAE (303,556) (214,330)
Net assets BEFE 863,788 556,875
Group's share of net assets of associates A& EE(GEE QA& EFE 228,790 146,127
The summarized financial information in respect of the Group’s ARBHERFWHFRBEEG IR
associates that are not accounted for using the equity method of ABRZHBAR (FEAREHERE)

accounting (included in assets held for sale) is set out below: I

2010 2009
—E2-2F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Total assets EERE - 1,908,628
Total liabilities BERE - (429,363)

- 1,479,265
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22.Interests in Associates (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
C. (Continued)

The revenue and profit for the year of the associates that are
accounted for in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

22. BE N TIER (&)
Brat: (&)

c. (%)

R EH L D RR AR G AR
ARERERARZ WA KM

income using the equity method of accounting are set out LU
below:
2010 2009
—E2-ZF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue WA 26,329 1,698,342
Profit for the year AN T 285,447 73,949
Other comprehensive income Hi2mEmA (11,142) (568)
Group's share of profit and NEEE FE(LEEE A A
other comprehensive income of REEHMEEME2EmEKA
associates for the year 63,117 18,245

d. The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of certain associates. The amounts of unrecognized share of
those associates, extracted from the relevant audited financial
statements of associates, both for the year and cumulatively, are

d AKECRIEIEEETHZAF
ZEBR-UTREBEZEHEARZ
REEZRBFREREE RS
REE DR R ERMBEE

as follows:

2010 2009
—ZET-ZF —TENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT

Accumulated unrecognized of share X N e
losses of associates ZERMEREIE (1,215) (1,047)

Unrecognized share of losses of Xy N
associates for the year REEREREE (168) (250)
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23.Available-for-sale Investments 23. A HEHERE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZEThF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B &t FExT FET

Listed investments: EWRE:
— Equity securities listed in —-REAELETZ

Hong Kong IR AN 75 % (a) 267,065 101,987

Unlisted securities: FLETRE:

- Equity securities TN b) 99,555 283,145
366,620 385,132

Assets classified as held for sale DERFIEHEZEE
—Unlisted equity securities — FETMBRAES (c) 76,800 -

Notes: Bt -

(@) Al listed investments are stated at fair value which is determined (a) FBE LMREHRBEE TR
based on the quoted market bid prices available on the Stock 2B EANEEE 2R TFEY
Exchange. L
During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group identified an HEZTZNF=-A=+—HLF
impairment loss of HK$387,068,000 relating to listed securities B -AEEE#HANE-BREKNRE
whose share prices were significantly declined or declined for a THSHERATH®Z EmESBEAZ
prolonged period. BB E518387,068,000/8 7T ©

(b)  The unlisted equity securities represented the equity interest (b) ELETHRABHFERHENEZE

held in companies which were engaged in holding of properties
interest located in the PRC. The unlisted equity securities are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that their fair value cannot be measured reliably.

MRFBEZMERERZ RBIAFA
Z i Aa A TEM 8 E A
BER MARBESTARIELTR
AEHZ N FEEAN FHE &
REHARIER BRI ETEZS

B



133 Hanny Holdings Limited S E@EARR A =

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e EHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z2 —F—ZFF A=+ —HI FZ

23.Available-for-sale Investments
(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

During the year, the Group acquired 60% interest in Best
Smooth. Before the acquisition of 60% interest in Best Smooth
by the Group, the Group held a 6.5% interest in a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Best Smooth and the related carrying
amount of such unlisted equity securities amounting to
HK$84,007,000 was included in available-for-sale investments
at cost. Upon completion of the acquisition of 60% interest in
Best Smooth (see note 41), the 6.5% interest in the non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Best Smooth is reclassified and consolidated
in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group disposed of the unlisted securities with
carrying amount of HK$17,737,000 at a cash consideration
of HK$17,500,000 during the year and related loss on such
disposal amounting to HK$237,000 was recognized in profit or
loss.

The Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the unlisted securities with carrying
amount of HK$76,800,000 at a cash consideration of
HK$76,800,000. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the
unlisted securities was reclassified from available-for-sale
investments to assets held for sale and presented separately
in the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31
March 2010. The disposal was not yet completed at the date of
approval for issuance of these financial statements.

23. A/ HEEERE (£&)

(@]

FR-AEBKNEGIE60%E = -
NEE U EE T IE60%HE 25 A AN &
E#HETIE—fHIE2EMBRARZ
6.5% 5 A MIELTRAEFH
2 8B BR E (584,007,000 7T 2 1%
A AR HEERE RKER
IE60%#E 5 52 Ak ( R FI7E41) 18 &
IEFE2 BB AR 26.5% e E
o WA ALREEZRE
B iSRRI -

foh - AEBRFRALERAE
17,737,000/ T2 3E LT &S - R
% {8 &17,500,0007 7T ' 1B H
EE518237,0008 TE MBS FER ©

AEBIVEKRHEE R HE
B8R T (876,800,000 70 7 3E F 1 &
%3 ¢ R {8 576,800,000/ It
At S LmEAFZEAER
AEEEREENREABIEHE
BE IR -_ZE—ZTF=B=1+—
ABZHGEEHBURRAKRIBITEN -
EFER AN SRR E LTI A H



24.Convertible Notes Receivable

The amount represents the debt component of convertible
notes receivable which is stated at amortized cost.

Details of the terms and conditions of the convertible notes as
at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 are as follows:
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24. R A RS

BT RERWA L BRE 2 ERHR
2 TIABE A ARSI R o

R-E-ZF=ZA=+-AR_ZZT
NE=ZA=+—H ALBREEZK

ARG FIEWT
Coupon Redemption
Principal interest rate amount over
Convertible note amount  Issuer per annum  Maturity date the principal
RE¢®
TRBRE xE®E  BOA FEENZE  HHA BUXEHE
HK$'000
TR
ITC Properties 2010 330,000  ITC Properties Group Limited Zero 11 August 2010 110%
ERBE-_FT-F ("ITC Properties”) z -ZT-ZF
EEHESEERAF NA+—AH
(MErszE])
ITC Properties 2011 270,000  ITC Properties 1% 15 June 2011 110%
EEmE_T—— ERhE T
~NATHEA
SCL 2010 170,000  See Corporation Limited (“SCL") Zero 9 August 2010 110%
EEE-_Z-X EEGEEARLA (DEEE]) z CZZ-Zf
NANE
SCL 2009 (Note) 100,000 SCL 1% 4 December 2009 100%
EBE_TTN(HH) EER —TTNF
+=AmA

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2010, one of the convertible
note receivables was matured and the principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 was repaid to the Group.

K REE-_T—TF=A=+—8H
IHFE -HEPh—BEERALIBEE
BB H - E K€ € %8100,000,000
BILEEETAER-
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24.Convertible Notes Receivable

25.

(Continued)

Included in convertible notes receivable of HK$797,850,000
as at 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$822,074,000) is an amount
of HK$530,970,000 (2009: HK$95,690,000) classified under
current assets as maturity date of the related convertible notes
is in August 2010 (2009: December 2009).

ITC Properties and SCL are listed on the Stock Exchange.
ITC Properties is a related company of the Group since the
substantial shareholder of the Company has beneficial interest

—FE= A —AUFEE

24. R A R TS (&)

R—_ZE—ZFTF=A=+—H8"
797,850,000 L (ZFEF AL F :
822,074,000 7T ) 2 FEU A] H ] =
% £ 4£530,970,0008 T ( —EE AN,
% : 95,690,000/8 T ) # BB AT E
BEZRE YRR EBET L BEE
ZEmEBBA—_ZT—ZEFNA(ZE
ENF ZETNAFT AT

ErEEMEEES BT ET e
BARARBZ T ERREGEEME
BEolgEs WEEHEALAERZ

in ITC Properties. 2EE/NCI
Conversion Options Embedded in 25. IR BBEZ HiRE
Convertible Notes
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The amount was analyzed for HEWB WM EDL
reporting purposes as: T2 ©FE
Non-current asset EREBEE 814 62
Current asset MENE B 80 96
894 158

Conversion options embedded in convertible notes represented
the conversion option element of certain convertible notes
subscribed by the Group and are measured at fair value using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model, at initial recognition
and at the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group recognized
an increase in fair value changes of approximately HK$736,000
(2009: decrease in HK$11,192,000) in profit or loss.

AHBRRE ABEREASERELZ
ETAIRBMER LRy RE
IRHE R Ko % R EIRE A S 52 —
HHATHREEEAARFEFE-

HE-_ZTZ—ZTF=-A=+—HILF
g $’$IEAT§ SR #1736,000
BLTZAFEEFSHEM(ZZEZT N
F 11,192,000 L 2 A FEEZER

b) e



25.Conversion Options Embedded in

Convertible Notes (Continued)

An amount of HK$80,000 (2009: HK$96,000) was classified
under current assets as the maturity date of the related
convertible notes is in August 2010 (2009: December 2009).

Details of the method and assumptions applied for the
valuation of the conversion options embedded in convertible
note are set out in as follow:

Valuation of conversion option element

Black-Scholes option pricing model is used for valuation
for conversion option element of convertible notes. The
inputs into the model of each convertible note as at date of
subscription and each of the year ended 31 March 2009 and
2010, if applicable, was as follows:

11 August 2005
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25. AR 2 HIAKE (&

80,000/ 7T ( —ZF J1. 4 : 96,0008
T2 eEREARDEE REAR
BERA A BER 2 BHE A T —
TENR(ZEBEENE: —TTHF
+=A)-

Al HRSRIR 2 SRR R 2 (BT
ARBRFBEINAT

SRy 2 hE

ARBER L BRESRSERAB I —
HRATEEEERNHE - NREA
BHEEE_ZETNER_ZTE—FF=
A=+—HLtFEZF (WER)F
Al LB AZERN ZEEBED T

(date of

ITC Properties 2010 subscription) 31 March 2009 31 March 2010

—EE2h0F

NA+—8H —BEAF —E-2F
BHBE—ZT—F (RBEAH) =A=+-—H =A=+—H
Stock price HK$0.397% T HK$0.487% T HK$1.943& 7T
= (B
Conversion price HK$0.447% 7T HK$5.68/& 7T HK$5.687 T
Hir(E
Volatility 73.57% 59.31% 65.72%
B8
Dividend yield Zero & Zero &F Zero &
BR
Option life 5 years F 1.36 year & 0.36 year F
HA 4 B
Risk free rate 4% 0.21% 0.13%

2 B A R
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25.Conversion Options Embedded in 25. JRMBIBE Rk (&

Convertible Notes (Continued)

Valuation of conversion option element (Continued) RNy 2 EE (&)

15 June 2006

(date of

ITC Properties 2011 subscription) 31 March 2009 31 March 2010

ZEEREF

ANA+TAHH —BENF —E-ZF
BHBE-FT—— (FREEH) =A=+-—AH =A=+-—AH
Stock price HK$0.547 7T HK$0.487 7T HK$1.945& 7T
g
Conversion price HK$0.707% 7T HK$9.037% T HK$9.037& 7T
H¥E
Volatility 61.62% 54.10% 70.42%
R
Dividend yield Zero & Zero & Zero &
Option life 5 years F 2.21 years &F 1.21 years
HA#E S R
Risk free rate 4.62% 0.76% 0.28%

I 2 B ) R

5 December 2007

(date of

SCL 2009 subscription) 31 March 2009 31 March 2010

—EELHF

+=-HEH —EEhE —E-=F
EEE-ZZN (RBEEH) =A=+-—H =A=+-—H
Stock price HK$0.178 7T HK$0.037 7T N/ATE H
I% &
Conversion price HK$0.4/8 7T HK$0.47%8 7T N/ATE A
HE
Volatility 56.37% 137.76% N/ATE A
8
Dividend yield Zero B Zero T N/ATE A
BE
Option life 2 years F 0.68 year F N/ATE A
B 4 <F B
Risk free rate 1.65% 021% N/ATEH

B LB R &




25.Conversion Options Embedded in

Convertible Notes (Continued)

Valuation of conversion option element (Continued)

10 August 2005
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25. AR 2 HIAKE (&

Regso 2 EE (&)

(date of

SCL 2010 subscription) 31 March 2009 31 March 2010
—REHF

NA+H —EENF —E-=F
EER—-2-% (REEH) =H=+-—A8 =H=+—A8
Stock price HK$0.66/8 7T HK$0.03%& 7T HK$0.287& 5T
B
Conversion price HK$0.127 7T HK$1.087 7T HK$5.667 T
R¥E
Volatility 82.58% 123.22% 142.91%
B8
Dividend yield Zero & Zero & Zero &
BX
Option life 5 years F 1.36 years 0.36 year
HA e 45 B
Risk free rate 4% 0.42% 0.13%

5 L B R =&

Sale

26.Properties Under Development for

The properties under development for sale was acquired
through the acquisition of 60% interest in Best Smooth during
the year ended 31 March 2010. Details of acquisition are set

out in note 41.

26. TEHREPUWE

FEERTOERINBE_ZT—F
A=+ RLEEREEBWREOIR
60% HE ok M Y B - B F 10 2 FF 1B &K

RETEE4T o
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27.

26.Properties Under Development for 26. FE&ERTW=E (&)
Sale (Continued)
The properties under development for sale represents land FEERPYERTEEMN—IE L
use rights for a piece of land located in Guangzhou, PRC and 2T ERAE URERAE EZ2KRE
development costs incurred to date on incomplete properties MY H*EERREEEZCBRNA
erected on it. The construction work on the land has not yet Zth E2EEFERITREMARTI Mz
been completed and development of the property has been MEZERCHEBBTF R_Z
suspended for over 10 years. Upon completion of acquisition ENFTAREETRKEERIE
of Best Smooth by the Group in December 2009, the Group B AEBERGEIRAREEDS
commenced to negotiate with various contractors for the FAMERZ IR R RETT - TEH
design and implementation of the construction work for the SEERTYETSR A ML RE
properties. The properties under development for sale are not TZEAREIR -
expected to be realized within twelve months after the end of
the reporting period.
Trade and Other Receivables and 27. B 5 R 2 b RS TA K FA {4
Prepayments I
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Trade receivables Z 5 W RIE 6,691 875
6,691 875
Consideration receivables for disposal of  H & W B A & fE UK B
subsidiaries (note a) (Kiita) - 75,218
Payment for properties development WEREIBRE 2R
projects (note b) (note 41) (Matb) (Kiit41) - 174,143
Prepayment for materials for property YERZEBYE 2
construction projects TEH IR 45,767 -
Prepaid land appreciation tax TEAT + AT 16,200 -
Other receivables (net of allowance E h fE kI8
for doubtful debts) (B REREE) 11,820 59,470
Interest receivables JE YR B 6 1,433
Deposits and prepayments e LB FIE 3,858 4,054
84,342 315,193




27.Trade and Other Receivables and
Prepayments (Continued)

Note:

a. The amount was related to the consideration receivable for
disposal of subsidiaries and was fully settled during the year.

b. As at 31 March, 2009, payments of HK$174,143,000 was paid
to the vendors for the potential acquisition of 60% in Best
Smooth, which was included in other receivable. During the year
ended 31 March 2010, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement to acquire 60% interest in Best Smooth
and shareholder’s loan at a consideration of HK$353,850,000.
The acquisition was completed on 7 December 2009 and details
of these are set out in note 41.

The Group allows an average credit period of one to two
months to its trade customers. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivable, presented based on invoice
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27. BES R HEMBEWHRERTEAN
IR (&)

Hiaz -

a. ZEcBRERHEMBARZER
RE AERFREHESB -

b. R-TEThhE=A=+—8 H~x%
174,143,000 tE M BEWEHT
E60%#E %5 X 1 F & 75 - ;Z 3B AT
AHMEKRZFEB REBEE_F—
TEZAZF+—HLEFE A&
BV EBRHEEERS  UWKE
BlIEO%EZMBRREFT RE A
353,850,000/ - WIEEIEE K =
TENFE+-_A+tBTR @
BEAKTFEA ©

AEBERE S EPREFE —EMIE
AZGEER -NERBHER - BEHE
WiE (R AHE) HERE

date, net of allowance for doubtful debts at the end of each BEEROMOT
reporting period:

2010 2009
—¥-%F  -TThF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FiET
0-30 days 0%£30H 5,557 107
31-60 days 31£60H 125 -
Over 60 days 8 3iE60 A 1,009 768
6,691 875
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27.Trade and Other Receivables and
Prepayments (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess and
understand the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
its credit limits. Credit limits attributed to each customer are

reviewed regularly.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,009,000 (2009:
HK$768,000) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The
average age of these receivables is one to two months (2009:

one to two months).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

impaired

27. EG R HAMBEYRBE R AN

FIE (4F)

EERMEAFEPA AEE ST
RTRBEREPZIEEERLEEH
EERB -BUEFPZEERESS
Y Bt AT o

KNEB 7 B 5 IR IE 4 855 75 B UL
BR FBR M 42 {E1,009,000/8 7L (=&
TNF 768,000 70) ' ZERIER
3R B EIE @A - i A S E IR B
BEEETREG AEBUERZE
EHRBEEAERR - ZERKE
ZFHEREAE—ZEMEL (ZZEEAN
F:—Z=ZWMEA) -

BB HERREE 5 B FKIEZ Rk

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Overdue more than two months 60 HA B 3 W E A 1,009 768

The Group has provided fully for all receivables over one year
because management considers those amounts are generally

not recoverable.

AEBOFAAEBIRE —F 2RI
REZHGEHERE RAREERER
RE%E A — A E -
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27.Trade and Other Receivables and 27.
Prepayments (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts on trade B S RWRIBRKE G 2
receivables
2010 2009
—E-E5F —ETAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Balance at beginning of the year F AR - 36,503
Amounts written off as uncollectible s A TR E 2 58 - (36,489)
Amounts recovered during the year FAWRE & HE - (14)
Balance at end of the year FRER - -
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts on other H b e W RIB RER B B 2 &
receivables
2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Balance at beginning of the year FH 9,711 8,459
Impairment losses recognized on BLE fth B R IB FE R
other receivables BEEE 425 4,619
Amounts written as uncollectible s A TR E 2 58 (8,031) (3,367)
Balance at end of the year FIREERR 2,105 9,711
The impairment losses recognized on trade and other ME 5 REAMEYIBER 2 REE
receivable is mainly because of those debtors have financial BXrEZEEHBEYHRERE 2 EBH AR

difficulties. o
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28.

29.

Investments Held for Trading

Investments held for trading at the end of the reporting period
include:

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTENEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Listed securities: EWES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —RBEBLEMZBRAES - 3,747
— Equity securities listed elsewhere — R EM T £ 2 IR
&5 262 118
262 3,865

Convertible Notes Designated at
Fair Value through Profit or Loss

As at 31 March 2009, the amount represents the fair value of
the convertible note issued by Mei Ah Entertainment Group
Limited (“Mei Ah CN"). During the year ended 31 March
2009, the Group converted the convertible note issued by
Golden Harvest Entertainment (Holdings) Limited (“Golden
Harvest CN”) into shares in Golden Harvest Entertainment
(Holdings) Limited ("GHE"). A gain of HK$20,832,000,
representing the difference between the fair value of the
shares in GHE obtained by the Group upon conversion
amounting to HK$84,091,000 at 30 May 2008 and the
carrying amount of the convertible notes of HK$63,259,000,
has been recognized in profit or loss. The shares in GHE
obtained are disposed of on the same date at a consideration
of HK$84,091,000. In addition, the Group disposed of Mei
Ah CN with principal amount of HK$25,000,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2009 and the consideration receivable
included in other receivable as set out in note 27. As at 31
March 2009, the Group held Mei Ah CN with principal amount
of HK$5,000,000.

29. BEE N FEHRILE AE

2 A RIS

N-_ZETZNF=ZR=1+—H Z&H
IERETREENEEERAFET
ZAHMEE([ERARBEER])
ZAFE-RBEE-_ZTZTHLFE=A
=+ —HULEFE AEEBERIRE
E¥ (EE)ARAA ([ERIRE])
BOZARBER([ERALBE
BIRBAEZRRE KD - W
20,832,000 70 (I AEBR —TF
NEFERA=Z+THREBREBEMESZ
EARLNT () 2 A F1E84,091,0007
JCELA] B IR 2 BRE{E63,259,000
B2 EZRE)ERNIBRER - FTER
CEABRERORABLE REA
84,091,000/ 7T o b /b - A& B R &,
E-TENF=ZA=+—HILFES
E R4 %8/525,000,000/8 7T 2 &35 7]
HE =R I sE27F78 U (B
Bt AHEMmERZEB R-_ZETAF
ZA=+—8 AEEHEELASEA
5,000,000 L2 E R a] LT -



29.Convertible Notes Designated at

Fair Value through Profit or Loss
(Continued)

The Mei Ah CN carries interest at 4 % per annum with
maturity date on 10 August 2009, and can be redeemed at
106 % of the principal amount.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, a loss on change in
fair value of convertible notes designated at fair value through
profit and loss, of which the fair value is measured under
Black-Scholes option pricing model, was HK$8,304,000 which
was recognized in profit or loss.

During the year, the convertible notes designated at fair value
through profit or loss was matured and the principal amount
of HK$5,000,000 has been settled and a fair value loss of
HK$182,000 was recognized in profit or loss upon settlement.

29.
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EEZRAFEIKRILET AR
m2URBREE (&

EGAHBERINFE AR B R
“EFAFNA+THIE JEAE
8106% & [0]

RBEZE-_ZTAF=ZA=+—A8Lt
FE ETFRAFEYIEL AR
ZARBEE AN TFEEHERL
8,304,000/ 70 ' E N8R A
FEUAN R TR HETERER

. Pavad
= 4
u-l—rr °

FR EBERAFEYEL AR
mZAABEBEEIHH A8
5,000,000 T BB E W IBEE R
HBENIBRFER A FEEE182,000
BIT o
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29.Convertible Notes Designated at

Fair Value through Profit or Loss
(Continued)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of the
convertible notes designated at fair value through profit or loss
were as follows:

(1) Valuation of debt component

The fair value of debt element was calculated based on
the present value of contractually determined stream of
future cash flows discounted at the required yield, which
was determined with reference to the credit rating of the
convertible notes issuer and remaining time to maturity.
The effective interest rate of the debt component of each
convertible note as at date of subscription, 31 March
2009 were as follows:

—FE= A —AUFEE

29. BEE N FEHRILE AR
Hm2ARBREE (&)

BERATFEIERLFABR AR
BMEBBRERAZMESERREFEN
T

(1) EHMOzEE

BEHBOAFEDREENE
Eza{éiﬁfﬁ/miiﬁfﬁ,){q&
EEEEZEETE BRI E R
Z‘“ﬂ%—lﬂiﬁlmﬁﬁﬁéﬂ/\
ZE BSOS EIEN A
CHRRBHEHERZZTZTA
¢ ﬂ +—H - JZALBRER
BREED 2 BERFERMT

Effective interest rate

BERAE
Date of
Convertible note Date of issue Subscription 31 March 2009
—EENF
ARBRRE 1T HH RIE RS =A=+—H
Mei Ah CN 11 August 2006 10% 20.42%

EXRAIRBER —EEXRFEN\A+—HR




Annual Report 2009-20105 % 146

29. BEE RN FEHRILET AR

29.Convertible Notes Designated at E E IR L
B RBEE (F

Fair Value through Profit or Loss
(Continued)

(2)  Valuation of conversion option element (2) HBEILD 2 HE

BERDXFAEIKLAAERE
ZARBMER KRR &
Pt 0 se—&F B A B E (B
HE-RRBBEHLBE-TZT
NEFE=ZA=+—HILFE &7

Black-Scholes option pricing model is used for valuation
for conversion option element of convertible notes
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The inputs
into the model of each convertible note as at date of
subscription and each of the year ended 31 March 2009

were as follows:

T

11 August 2006

RBEEFAZEN 2 BB

(date of

Mei Ah CN subscription) 31 March 2009

—BEAXE

NA+—H —EENF
XDURBRERE (REEH) =H=+—H
Stock price HK$0.387% 7T HK$0.247 7T
[ (B
Conversion price HK$0.447% 7T HK$0.447 7T
Volatility 67.8% 69.28%
I8
Dividend yield 1.03% Zero T
BE
Option life 1.5 years F 0.18 year F
MR
Risk free rate 4.06% 0.04%

& [ M R
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. T HA £ =k
30.Short-term Loans Receivable 30. BEHIE R
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHE T
Secured loans receivable (note) JEWERBER (M) 6,898 109,450
Less: Allowance for doubtful debt JB - REREAE (5,898) (5,898)
1,000 103,552
Note: As at 31 March 2010, the loan receivable is unsecured. As at Kiit: RZE—ZEF=_A=+—H" Bl
31 March 2009, the loans were secured by (i) shares in private ERABEER - RZTZTNF=H
companies engaged in garment manufacturing and (ii) listed =+—H0 ZEERUTIEEKR
securities. (R ERKREEZLARRZ
B fn R (i) E a5 e
The loans receivable carry interest at Hong Kong Prime Rate EMREFREBRESNE (ZF
(2009: Hong Kong Prime Rate to Hong Kong Prime Rate plus TNF  BAREBNXEET LS
3%) and are repayable within one year. BEFEMI% )T WER—
FAEE-
Movement of the allowance for doubtful debts on loans BRERZRAEREZDY
receivable
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance at beginning of the year F R EE R 5,898 68,294
Amounts written off as uncollectible Wi sE AR U E 2 £ 58 = (62,396)

Balance at the end of the year F IR 5,898 5,898




31.Amount(s) due from (to) Related
Companies/A Minority Shareholder

(i)

(i)

Amounts due from (to) related companies

As at 31 March 2010, the amounts due from related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand or expected to be recovered within one year.

As at 31 March 2009, included in amounts due from
related company of HK$271,323,000 were interest-
bearing at Hong Kong Prime Rate plus 2% and the
remaining balances were non-interest bearing. All
amounts were unsecured and repayable on demand or
expected to be recovered within one year.

Included in the amounts due to related companies of
HK$88,468,000 (2009: HK$131,700,000) are interest-
bearing at Hong Kong Prime Rate plus 2%. The
remaining balance are interest free. All amounts were
unsecured and repayable on demand or expected to be
recovered within one year.

The related companies are (i) the Company’s substantial
shareholder and (ii) the companies in which the
Company’'s substantial shareholder has beneficial
interest.

Amount due to a minority shareholder

The principal amount of the amount due to minority
shareholder as at 31 March 2010 is HK$227,279,000.
The amount due to a minority shareholder is unsecured
and interest-free. The shareholder of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary agreed that the amount will not be repaid until
the disposal of properties under development for sale
(as set out in note 26), which is expected in 2013. The
effective interest rate in calculating the imputed interest
is 7.06% per annum.
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31. W () BRE LR,
—BDHRRFAE

(i)

(i)

FEW (FEAT) B8 2 R 5RIR

LE-TE=A= -0
wm@ HEREEF RS

7N i
S b

RZEZENLF=ZA=Z+—
H EBREBEEQRREFE
271,323,000 TR BB & E
BRI EM2%ET B - AT
BofTARIELHERR AR
ERBEEXNTEHR—FRNE
o

ERABEEIRARESEF
88,468,000/ 7L (ZEZE N F -
131,700,000 7T) I BB & E

BREM%t 8 %R
% cFTAFIBHEET - WAER
ERHEEXNTEHR—FRE
;ﬁo

BENRIBOARTEERRK
W$@nikh$%ﬁ§§%
@ 2 A A

e — & DB R RIA

A — R VBB ER -z
—TFEZRF=+— EIZK&%E
#227,279,0008 7T JEN — &
LEHRRFBLEERIFREE -
—EIIEEENBERF ZREME
EReERFEREYYE
(R MisF26) HER (AR =
T—=—F ) EBEE-FTEMR
BRNERTAZERENERA
7.06% o



149 Hanny Holdings Limited $#EEEER LA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

)

(i)

Bt B 3R AR BT RE

For the year ended 31 March 2010 #Z — &

—FE= A —AUFE

32.Loans to Associates/Amounts due 32. (A FHE NT B HEAS B
to Associates ENGIE @]
Loans to associates () BFHLATER
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETAEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loans to associates HTBENRIER 109,433 106,855
The amounts are unsecured and repayable on demand. ZESBRABERAREARENR
Except for the amount of HK$1,331,000 (20009: FF {8 & - Br — 281,331,000/ 7T
HK$1,331,000) bears interest at Hong Kong Prime Rate —ZETETNF:1,331,0008 7T)
plus 2% per annum (2009: Hong Kong Prime Rate plus ZHIERBEAREENENE
2% per annum), the remaining balance is non-interest ME2% (ZEZNF BEK
bearing. BEMNEINENE2%)ET B
N REBIITET B o
Amounts due to associates (i) JFETEEE A RIFRIA
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable ZECHRAERRERE WA
on demand. REREERER-
33.Bank Balances and Cash 3B.IMITERKRE

The bank balances and cash comprises cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
held by the Group. The bank balances carries interest at 0.01%
to 0.30% per annum (2009: 0.01% to 0.26% per annum).

RITEHR LIRS BEAEERFELZ

BeREEBAR=
HR 1T 5K

8 A AR Z R
CIRITHEERIZF F.0.01%

£030% (ZEZENF:FL0.01%
£0.26% )t B -
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34.Trade and Other Payables and 34. ES R HEMENKARES
Accruals gH
2010 2009
—¥-%F  -TTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Trade payables B 5 EN IR 21,179 20,843
Accrued expenses FEETF 17,043 20,896
Interest payables FE AT F)E 3,302 2,787
Payables for construction project BERIEE 2 BN RIE 33,826 -
Other payables (note) E b e FOR () 191,565 -
Others HAt 36,901 22,184
303,816 66,710
The following is an aged analysis of REBRRPR B HEN
trade payable (based on the invoices REZREDT (REE
date) at the end of each reporting HE)WT :
period:
0-30 days 0&30H 9,930 13,651
31-60 days 31&260H 258 425
Over 60 days HBiE6e0H 10,991 6,767
21,179 20,843

Note: Other payables are acquired arising from acquisition of 60%

interest in Best Smooth. In previous years, Guangzhou lJixiang
Property Development Company Limited (“Guangzhou Jixiang”),
a subsidiary of Best Smooth, entered into pre-sale agreements
with purchasers for the disposal of certain of the properties
under development for sale. The sale transactions have not
been completed since the construction of the properties has
not yet been completed, and accordingly, no revenue has been

recognized.

HAb e RIB TR U B IE60%
BaR B -RBEFE  EM
EHFEERAERAR ([EMNE
HlBIEZMBARREZEE
FARIMZREE R HEETH
ERRTUE - HEXZHAMER
AREMRMIALARTTR > F bt I Fg
RALTUA
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34.Trade and Other Payables and

Accruals (Continued)

Note. (Continued)

Since the property project has been suspended for a number of
years, the purchasers have agreed with Guangzhou lJixiang that
they would obtain a refund from Guangzhou Jixiang instead of

completing the purchase of the properties.

The other payables are unsecured, carry interest at monthly
borrowing rate of The People’s Bank of China. The monthly
borrowing rate of The People’s Bank of China is 5.94% during
the year ended 31 March 2010 and are repayable on demand.

35.Borrowings

34. B.5 R MBS HAR B

BH5 Kt
g Fﬁ (/:21,5 )
M (&)

HRZMERECRHEZF BEHE
HEMNEFHE  BEGRIEME
HZER MAExKBEEHEY
e,

SABRHE A RER  BREAR
BT ARHRET B RBE T
—TE=A=+—AILER PEA
RIR1TE B G HFI% 55.94% - 178
RE SR -

35. f& &

2010 2009
—E-=5F —ZETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Borrowings comprise: BREIE
Secured bank borrowings BHEMRITER 113,563 130,313
Unsecured other borrowings i = 25,000 45,000
138,563 175,313
The above amounts are repayable FAUFIRZER AT F AR
as follows: gg:
Within one year or on demand —F RN EKE 43,250 61,750
Between one and two years —EMER 18,750 18,250
Between two and five years MERFNRN 57,813 56,250
Over five years HBiEAF 18,750 39,063
138,563 175,313
Amount due within one year under WARBEEETR —FRA
current liabilities Bz 5008 (43,250) (61,750)
Amount due after one year —F &Rz A 95,313 113,563
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35.Borrowings (Continued) 35. 55K (&)
The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the AEBECEEEREEHI AN
contractual maturity dates are as follows: ™
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Fixed-rate bank and other borrowing —FREBHZEERITR
which due within one year HbfEm - 20,000
The ranges of effective interest rates during the year (which AEBEFRAFEZERMNE (M
are equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group's ZERENFR)EBENT -

borrowings are as follows:

2010 2009
—2-2F —ETNEF

Effective interest rate: BRRA &
Fixed-rate borrowings EEBR 5% 5%
Variable-rate borrowings FEBR 0.81% to £7% 1.61% to £7.25%

36.Bank Overdrafts 36. IR1ITEX

No bank overdrafts are utilized by the Group as at 31 March AEEBR-_ZTE—ZF=A=+—H
2010. Bank overdrafts carry interest at prevailing market rate WEBARTES RITEIRME
ranging from 5.75% to 6% per annum during both periods. HEAANRER ZMSENENFEL

5.75% % 6% & °
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. L
37.Share Capital 37. B
Number
of shares Value
KRG &R BE
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREE0.01E T 2 &M
Authorized: ‘\fEJ&LK :
At 31 March 2009 and ZENF=ZA=+—HK
31 March 2010 :iﬁ EFE=A=+—H 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRERRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 RZZEZENFOA-—AER
at 1 April 2008 HEC.OVE Lz @K 5,012,823,309 50,128
Consolidation of shares & B D (4,912,566,843) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each SREE0.508 T2 Tk 100,256,466 50,128
Adjustment to nominal value H{E A - (49,126)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE.OVE T LR 100,256,466 1,002
Issue of shares BTG 300,769,399 3,008
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RZBEZNF=ZA=+—H08
at 31 March 2009 AR E{E0.01 T2 & Bk 401,025,865 4,010
Issue of shares upon exercise of AT RAREZMEITRG
warrants (note a) (Ktita) 40,410,865 404
Placing of shares (note b) il &/ 1n (A7atb) 120,000,000 1,200
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RZE-—ZEF=A=+—H0F
at 31 March 2010 AR E{E0.01 T 2 & B 561,436,730 5,614
Notes: 1z -

(@)  During the year, 40,410,865 warrants were exercised at an initial
exercise price of HK$0.63 per share.

(b)  During the year, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with subscribers for the subscription of an
aggregate 120,000,000 new shares of the Company for an
aggregate consideration of HK$93,600,000 at a subscription
price of HK$0.78 per subscription share.

All shares issued during the year ranked pari passu with other
shares in issue in all respects.

(a)

TN 40,410,86517 52 B #E 55 12 1)
FITEEBFR0.638 TITE -

FR ARAIHEZZRE AL
ZMREWZ ERBETRRA
B M0.78B TLREAR é.\#
120,000,000% 37 B% 1 fﬂﬁi%
93,600,000/ 7T °

FRMBERTRMDERA S ES R
HMp B TR EE RS-



38.Warrants

On 17 March 2009, the Company has issued 80,205,172
warrants to the subscribers of the offer shares conferring
the rights to the holders thereof to subscribe in cash for
80,205,172 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each
at an initial exercise price of HK$0.63 per share (subject to
anti-dilutive adjustment) at any time during the period from 17
March 2009 to 16 September 2010.

At 31 March 2010, the Company had outstanding 39,794,307
(2009: 80,205,172) warrants, the exercise in full of which
would result in the issue of 39,794,307 (2009: 80,205,172)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

The subscription rights attaching to the warrants are measured
at fair value of approximately HK$4,853,000 on initial
recognition and are recognized in the warrant reserve.

The fair value of the warrants issued during the period was
calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing model. The inputs
into the model were as follows:
Date of issue 17 March 2009
HK$0.34

HK$0.63
16 September 2010

Share price
Exercise price
Maturity date

Expected volatility 75%
Expected dividend yield 0%

Risk free rate 0.614%
Fair value per warrant HK$0.0605

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the warrants are based on the management’s best
estimate.

38.
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R R

RZFEZNF=ZA+tH ARQ
2%7780,205,17210 R IR AE %%ﬁh
MBEA AR TEBITE AERN -
R_ZEENF=ZA++tHE-_Z—F
FNA+/NBEHEEAER 25
ﬁﬁ%i%o&%ﬁ(Tﬁ&%%m
gﬁk)uiﬂipﬁﬁsozoswzkﬂi
FREE0.0IBITZE B

RZE—ZTF=ZA=+—H AR
AIHEA39,794,3071 (—EZT N F:
80,205,17219 ) R1TFE R ERE - W0
BB TE O] BB E81739,794,307/%
(ZZFZT N4 :80,205,1720% ) G E
BE0.01B T2 BRI -

%hﬁﬁﬁwwﬁﬁﬁmm%whz
N {E 44,853,000 ;L& W R
R EEREEER -

HNEHITRBRERE 2 A FETIAZ
EAHREERUAE -ZRE 2 H
ABREIIWT

BITHHE —ETNF
=ZA++tH8
I & 0.347% 7T
FT1E(E 0.637% 7T
2 H A —E—FF
HAA+<AB
SER 75%
ﬁ%&%$ 0%
% FI| 2 0.614%
tfﬁ&%ﬂxﬁéﬁ 0.0605%8 7T
N¥E

AAEREERE AT EMRAZEHK
BRDREEE 2 &REMBETEL -
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39.Convertible Loan Notes

The Company issued convertible loan notes with principal
amount of HK$770,973,000 during the year ended 31 March
2007. The fair value of the liability component at the date
of issue is HK$627,636,000. The convertible loan notes carry
interest at 2% per annum and will be matured on 15 June
2011. The convertible loan notes are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The initial conversion price is HK$9 per share
and subject to anti-dilutive adjustments. The conversion price
of the convertible loan notes had been adjusted from HK$9
per share to HK$0.81 per share and further to HK$0.675 per
share as a result of the bonus issue of shares during the year
ended 31 March 2008. During the year ended 31 March 2009,
the conversion price of the convertible loan notes was adjusted
from HK$0.675 per share to HK$33.50 per share as a result
of the share consolidation effective on 3 November 2008 and
further to HK$15.83 per share as a result of the shares under
open offer in March 2009. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 6.6% per annum.

Unless previously converted by the convertible loan note
holders, the Company will redeem the convertible loan notes
on the maturity date at 100% of the principal amount of the
convertible loan notes then outstanding.

The principal amount of the convertible loan notes as at 31
March 2010 was HK$706,699,000 (2009: HK$706,699,000).
No convertible loan note was converted into shares during the
year ended 31 March 2009 and 2010.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
loan notes for the year is set out below:

—EE= G EE

E-ZE+F=ZA=+—HIF
B ARRA)EITAEE770,973,000
Bz BEREREE -GBS
BFITHH A Wﬁz%zm%,oooﬁé
T AR ERERIEFB2%:T 8
R-E——FA+HBEH A
EEREFE AT E - R LIRE
BERE T A ETRESETE A
BREREEZ LBEDBHETRE
TRBEFR0.81E T EERENE
EZEZZENF=A=1+—RHILFE
ITH R MK — P AEEFRR0.6755
ToREZE-_ZTEENF=ZA=+—H
IFFER ATRRERRR 2 LIRE
AR-ZFEENF+—A=ZHER 2K
DEFMABAER0.675BTHARES
f833.508 T EEAR_ZEZNF
—RETZARBEERE T 2RO mE
—%/F.ﬂ‘*’kﬁtﬂxw 838 LB E
PDZEBRFFNEE6.6% °

BRIERRBEREERE AR D B A
S BRAIRRRFREI R RE R
HARRBZ MR ERRERZ 2HA
CREBEOABEERER-

—ZEF=ZA=+—HB A/
i ,EK?TFZZK%%EW% 699, ooo
AL (ZZEZENF 706,699,000/
CHE_ZTTNFER T —ZF
Z“AZ+—BIFE HMEAJBRERE
REBELB ARG -

FRAABRREREEZ2BERH &
YT

o 558 T
WH

—~

7

Il

2010 2009
—E-EF —ZTENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHETT

Carrying amount at the beginning of FHREE
the year 650,872 627,776
Interest charge WERF B 37,224 37,224
Interest paid B A (14,133) (14,128)
Carrying amount at the end of the year ~ F#EMEE 673,963 650,872
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40.Deferred Tax 40. JEFER IR
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) REANECHERZEERERIEEE
recognized and movements thereon during the year: (BE)REZEHWT :

Fair value

adjustment

of intangible

assets and

property,

plant and

equipment

Revaluation arising Accelerated
of investment on business tax Tax

property  combination  depreciation losses Total

RERAHM

EEZEBNEE

RE RU% BER mE

NEER RELTERE REHE REFR &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FAT TAT TET
At 1 April 2008 RZZZN\EWA-H 24,547 59,577 876 (1,478) 83,522
Currency realignment INERE - (6) (14) - (20)
Tax effect on change in tax rate HEgHsHBze (1,403) - (40) 83 (1,360)
Credit to profit or loss (note 12) REEFAR (HiE12) (15,417) (20,986) (164) - (36,567)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENE=A=1—H 1,727 38,585 658 (1,395) 45,575
Currency realignment MERE - - (41 - (41)
Charge (credit) to profit or loss (note 12) RERTNR (AR) (H#12) 10,395 (15,167) (433) - (5,205)

At 31 March 2010 R-E-F5=R=+-H 18,122 23,418 184 (1,395) 40,329
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40.Deferred Tax (Continued)

41

For the purposes of statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

—FE= A —AUFEE

IEEBIR (4F)

A BRRAKRZ2HME & TEL
MEEERBBE TYHIH -UTRIE
BT ER IRk 2 IR IR AE SR D AT

2010 2009

—E-BF —EENF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH& T FABT

Deferred tax assets REFRIBE = (1,395) (1,395)
Deferred tax liabilities RAEFLIEE B 41,724 46,970
40,329 45,575

The Group has unused tax losses of HK$536,345,000 at
31 March 2010 (2009: HK$596,607,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognized in respect of tax losses amounting to
HK$8,330,000 at 31 March 2010 and 2009 of such losses. No
deferred tax has been recognized in respect of the remaining
HK$528,015,000 at 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$588,277,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The losses
can be carried forward indefinitely.

.Acquisition of Assets Through

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

On 20 July 2009, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to acquire 60% of the issued
share capital of Best Smooth and 60% of the outstanding
shareholder’s loan owed by Best Smooth to the vendor at
a consideration of HK$353,850,000. Best Smooth is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the holding of property development project in the PRC. The
acquisition was completed on 7 December 20009.

41. @

R-_E—ZTF=F=+—H K&
EAREERR RN 2 KBAH
TE 518 /5536,345,0008 T (=2 F
N 1 596,607,000 7C) e T —
TFER_FENF=ZRA=+—8"
2% JE5 18 718,330,000 7T 2 T TE &
BEERABELEMEBEEE-N_F
—EF=ZA=+—B BN KEE
AR 2R F 2ROR - R B B E R &
?5528015000,%75(fﬁﬁj1¢:
588,277,000/ 7T ) MR AIEEFLIE -
ZEEBRERALE -

BRENBRARWBEE

RZZETZAFLRAR-TRH XE

BRIVEGRMHTEEHGZE LKRE
353,850,000/ 7T Yo B8 B IE60% B 3
TRARBIBGERE T 2 REEBRR

ER260% - AIERREZER R A
HfB AR NP B EREYMERAE

BE -WBEHREXR _ZETAF+
AtB=EK-



41.Acquisition of Assets Through 41.
Acquisition of Subsidiaries
(Continued)

Before the acquisition of 60% of Best Smooth, the Group
acquired a 6.5% interest on 8 December 2007 in a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Best Smooth, at a consideration
of HK$87,000,000 and accounted for this as an available-for-
sale investment. The carrying amount of the available-for-sale
investment was HK$84,007,000 as at 31 March 2009.

The acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition
of assets and liabilities. The effect of the acquisition is
summarized as follows:
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BREWBHEBARWEBEE
(7

&)

WEBIEO%ERA A EBE &
RZEZELEFF+ANBURE
87,000,000/ T W EE B IE—FE IE2
BH B AR 26.5%E T AR
ERAIHHERE -R-_ZEZNF=A
—+—H AHEESKEREEAS
84,007,000 7T

WEEHECSIWEKRBEENRBE K
BERZZESMLLT:

HK$'000
FHET
Net assets acquired: FrifiE o B EF1E
Properties under development for sale FEERELYME 1,212,126
Other receivables and prepayments E A 8 W kB I T A RRIE 12,323
Bank balances and cash WITHEBNIES 234
Other payables and accrued expenses E e 3B N AT S (217,583)
Deposits received in advance AW ET & (172,983)
Other borrowings H &R (334,249)
Amount due to a minority shareholder R — %R DR R IR (49,284)
450,584
Minority interests D BIRRE S (12,727)
Total consideration B E 437,857
Consideration satisfied by: REzxAN:
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 84,007
Payments for properties development projects Y RIBE FIA
(note 27) (Btit27) 174,143
Cash ik 179,707
437,857
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: FWEmEE 2 FHRE M
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BB Re S EBEEE 234
Cash consideration paid EMRERE (179,707)

(179,473)
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41.Acquisition of Assets Through
Acquisition of Subsidiaries

(Continued)

The subsidiary acquired did not contribute any significant
results or cash flow to the Group.

42.Deposits Received in Advance

The amounts represented the deposits received in advance
in previous years by Best Smooth for the sales of certain
properties under development for sale upon completion.

43.Disposal of Subsidiaries

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2010

On 4 March 2010, the Group disposed of 65% interest
in Hanny Investment Group Limited (“HIGL"), at a cash
consideration of HK$1,000,000.

On 4 March 2010, the Group also disposed of all
its interest in Memorex International Inc.
subsidiaries (“MIl Group”), at a cash consideration of

HK$10,302,000.

41.

42.

43.

BRWBHEBARKBEE
(#&)

P U R 2 B B8 2 R 4 A AR R 1B 7 2K
EREREEXRDRE -

RUWET &

ZETBREOIRNBEFERRERK
BHESETHERRTYWEMBYRZ

T4
HEHE QA

() BE-F-—TE=A=+-§
L

R-_ZE-—TFE=AMNA A&
B %[ £ R {E1,000,000/% T
& & Hanny Investment Group
Limited ([HIGL]) 2 65%#

Sz
zS o
I

MN-_E—ZTE=FNE A&EH
ML ¢ K {E10,302,000/% 7T
tH & Memorex International Inc.
REMBAR (IMIEE])Z

D EpRELS -



43.Disposal of Subsidiaries
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43. HEWB AR (&

(Continued)
(i) For the year ended 31 March 2010 (Continued) () EHE_Z—ZF=-A=+—H
WHFE (&)
HIGL MIl Group Total
HIGL Mil &£ & B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAETT FET
Net assets disposed of: A& EEFE:
Trade and other receivables & 5 & £ fib JiE U 118 1,232 21,514 22,746
Bank balance and cash RITHEBNIAS - 201 201
Trade and other payables B 5 M E A A B (407) (678) (1,085)
Tax payable FET B IR - (8,316) (8,316)
Minority interests DR R E S (289) (3,984) (4,273)
536 8,737 9,273
Gain on disposal of LERE QR Z W
subsidiaries 464 1,565 2,029
Total consideration LR E 1,000 10,302 11,302
Satisfied by: <A
Cash Re 1,000 10,302 11,302
Net cash inflow arising on LEmMEEZFRE
disposal: mA
Cash consideration received B YIRS HE 1,000 10,302 11,302
Bank balances and cash BHEZRITEH K
disposed of Be - (201) (201)
1,000 10,101 11,101

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year did not
contribute significantly to the revenue and the results
of the Group. The cash flow contributed or utilized by
the subsidiaries disposed of during the year was not

significant.

RAFEHEZHMBAREAKEL
WARKBELEBEANER -NAFE
HEZHBARERMABAZRER
BUWTEK



161 Hanny Holdings Limited $# @ E@ARR A =

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

)

Bt 5 S AR MY 5

For the year ended 31 March 2010 # Z —

43.Disposal of Subsidiaries

(Continued)
)

During the year ended 31

disposed of 29.2% interest in CEL,

—FE= A —AUFE

For the year ended 31 March 2009

March 2009, the Group
at a cash

consideration of HK$152,418,000 on 8 May 2008. CEL
is accounted for as an associate of the Group upon and
after the completion of the disposal.

The Group also disposed of 100% interest in Hemmant
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“Hemmant Group”)
at a consideration of HK$3,500,000.

(i)

43. HEWB AT (&)

RE-FTAF=A=+-8
I

HE-_TThF=-A=+—H
HFE - AEBER-_TTN\FH
ANBIZE2£MKE152,418,000
BT ECELZ29.2% M 4 ©
CELRLE & %W&A%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ
.Z iz,L./‘\

EIERENAN
NEE R AR E3,500,000
7 70 i € Hemmant Holdings
Limited X EK B X 7

(THemmant& &) 2 2 Zp #&
Hemmant
CEL Group Total
Hemmant
CEL £H AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T T FHET
Net assets disposed of: PR E 2 B EFE
Interest in associates RNl 680,133 - 680,133
Convertible note receivable  JEU —FEEEE N 7 2
from an associate A BRI 55,521 - 55,521
Convertible options JEY—fEE & R A2
embedded in convertible Al LIRRIE 7 Wk
note receivable
from an associate 1,119 - 1,119
Deposits for acquisition of ~ WIEWEER 2 XS
interests in properties 60,013 - 60,013
Available-for-sale AHEERE
investments 9,562 9,562
Trade and other receivables & 5 K H fib i Y 5018 21,698 4,710 26,408
Investments held for trading #HEEEKE 85,918 - 85,918
Short-term loans receivables JEUL4E ERE 7 21,627 - 21,627
Loan to associates BTHERNRIERK 36,610 - 36,610
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 315 395 710
Trade and other payables g5 N E e A (90,954) (1,512) (92,466)
Taxation payable B RLIR (25,908) - (25,908)
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43.Disposal of Subsidiaries 43. HENB LT (&

(Continued)
(i) For the year ended 31 March 2009 (Continued) (iy BE-ZZEENE=A=+—H
WFFE (&)
Hemmant
CEL Group Total
Hemmant
CEL £H HER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT FAT
Loss on remeasurement to ~ —ZZ)N\FEHEAEE
fair value less cost to sell HEREHEBERT
in respect of disposal ERNTERMIEEK
group classified as held 2 EiE
for sale made in 2008 (90,171) - (90,171)
765,483 3,593 769,076
Minority interests DHRRE R (248,253) - (248,253)
Transfer to interests LRy NI E ey
in associates (168,742) - (168,742)
Exchange reserve realized B IR IE 5 RE (21,129) - (21,129)
Other reserve realized BEEEMHEE (18,865) - (18,865)
Loss on disposal of HEWBRARZEE
subsidiaries (156,076) (93) (156,169)
Total consideration BRE 152,418 3,500 155,918
Satisfied by: YR AR:
Cash i 47,200 3,500 50,700
Deposits received B Wiz e 30,000 - 30,000
Other receivables E b pE W 08
(note 27) (H1it27) 75,218 - 75,218
152,418 3,500 155,918
Net cash outflow arising HEmMELEZFRS
on disposal: Tt
Cash consideration HaRE 47,200 3,500 50,700
Bank balances and BEHEZRITEHRK
cash disposed of He (315) (395) (710)
46,885 3,105 49,990
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43.Disposal of Subsidiaries
(Continued)

The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 March
2009 did not contribute significantly to the revenue and the
results of the Group. The cash flow contributed or utilized
by the subsidiaries disposed of during the year was not
significant.

44.Major Non-cash Transactions

There are no significant non-cash transactions during the year
ended 31 March 2010. For the year ended 31 March 2009, the
major non-cash transactions were as follows:

(a)

Loans to associates amounting to HK$378,165,000 were
transferred to amounts due from related companies due
to the change of shareholding in the associates.

Convertible note designated at fair value through
profit and loss of HK$84,091,000 were transferred to
investments held for trading upon the conversion of
convertible notes designated at fair value through profit
or loss into investments held for trading.

43.

44,

HENB AT (&)

RBE_ZTNAF=-A=1T—HILF
EHEZMBAREAEEZRAR
XEVEBBEBAER RNAFELEZ
MEBARERMABA RS RELT
N

FEFRERS

AEBRBE_ZE—ZF=ZA=1+—
HIEFETESKRIERERZ -EHE
—EFNF=A=+—RHIEE *
THERERFHWT:

(a) HMRBENFZIRELIEED
% T HE 2 N RIE 5X378,165,000
BT EBEREIREERRR
T8 o

b) EBEERQAFEYEL AE
% 2 A] WM E 584,091,000/
7T ERIEERAFENERIL T
ABHZARBRERL B AR
EEBERERERERHIEESE
BE o



45.Contingent Liabilities
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45. KRB E

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTEENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Amounts granted in respect of RTANRRMEREE
guarantees given to banks and MR 1T I o fth & Bh i
other financial institutions REERMBAB &8
for facilities granted to:
(i) An associate (iy —FEIBE & QA 75,000 -
(i) An outsider (i) —fEASN R A A - 38,775
2010 2009
—E-2F ZTEENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Amounts utilized in respect of guarantees H N7 QAR FTERFEE
given to banks and MR 1T I Efth & Bh i i
other financial institutions REERMBAB 28
for facilities granted to:
(i) An associate (i) — A= A A 971 -
(i) An outsider (i) —EINAR A A - 23,732

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other contingent

BREXHIEEN AEER_F—

TF=A=+—AR-FEAF=A
=t-ARMHMAARE

liabilities as at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.
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. R Lk
46.0perating Leases 46. KHEHL
The Group as lessee REFEREREHEA
2010 2009
—g-®% —EEAG
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT
Minimum lease payments paid BEBEEBRHNZN 2
under operating leases: BERMEENZ:
Land and buildings T REF 1,073 1,072
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RE R - ANE B & A RET A #
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- Ho A ZERRKEEEN
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: RZEEZBEHARAT
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FATT
Within one year —F R 30 30
Leases are negotiated for lease term of one year and rentals mELHNFHRA—F mlEerE

are fixed over the terms of the leases. #IHR A & 5E o



47.
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46.0perating Leases (Continued) 46. KEHY (&)
The Group as lessor AEFERER/REHEA
Property rental income earned during the year was FARDMz2MEHRSZKRAR
HK$5,013,000 (2009: HK$3,549,000). All of the properties 5,013,000 L (=% 2?\ LF -
held have committed tenants for the next two years. 3,549,00087T) c i 2 2 MEE
EAAE PR R R 2 R o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted RERAR AEBEHBFIILAE
with tenants for the following future minimum lease Bz AREBEEERNFTAT -
payments:
2010 2009
—E-EF —TTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Within one year —F K 3,736 3,736
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFRF
(BREERMF) 280 4,047
4,016 7,783
Share Option Scheme 47. b5 IRt &l
Pursuant to a resolution passed at a special general meeting of BER-ZZETE=F=A+EAHRTZ
the Company on 17 March 2003, the Company has terminated ARARRRENARE L@BB 2 RE
the 2001 Share Option Scheme and adopted a new share EOARRERIE-ET—FHERE
option scheme (the “2003 Share Option Scheme"”). Under HE WERG—IEFERERTE ([ =
the 2003 Share Option Scheme, the board of directors of the TE-FERETE]) - RE-_ZFZ
Company may grant options to directors and employees of the = FREREE K@ AEEEAK
Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, ERERTERAS SN BZHEN
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint venture HAEBIFHERMZAREESE LE
business partners, promoters and service providers of any B AEBEEMKE AR ZHEAA
members of the Group who the board of directors considers AR - o iERg A BER - HEN - RE

have contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the
Group. The purpose of the 2003 Share Option Scheme is to
provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Group and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Group and its shares for
the benefits of the Group and its shareholders as a whole.

A B RBRBH GERREKR
HBEARRBHER —FTFT=
iﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁiﬂz BRERAZEER
HESAEEREZHE XHBHS
Eﬂ%%ﬂiil&ﬁﬁx%%%ﬁﬂ SIES
NBEAREERERNEE-
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47.Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Subject to the condition that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and to be exercised under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time
to time, the total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2003 Share Option Scheme, when
aggregated with any shares subject to any other schemes, is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue on the date of approval and adoption of the 2003 Share
Option Scheme.

Under the 2003 Share Option Scheme, the options which may
be granted to any individual in any one year are not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to substantial shareholders or independent non-
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company's share
capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date on which the option
is accepted to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant or the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant or the nominal value of the share
of the Company.

No options were outstanding under the 2003 Share Option
Scheme at 31 March 2009 and 2010.

7. BRERTE ()

BRAFARE ST FEBETE
RARREAEMEEITEEZHER
B AEITE 2 MR T BB AR AE I ] 3247
LR BENEBBAR AR EEE
IR Z30%IEMENN BIE—TZ =
FRERERT ST E D ERES R 2R
MDBEERBIEE R LM ST
i NEBBRAARR_ZEE=F
RERR T BB L& R R E HE 1T
f&15 2 10% °

RE-_ZFT=_FERESE HEX
NRIBRREEME  RMEA—FAK
FAEMEA Z BEE NS BIBAR QT
BEETRNZ1% R FEERRKL
BYFATEST ZBREBREARTR
AR Z0.1%3k 2 385,000,000/% 7T RI| 2
ERESARBRRAE -

Bz BEEARK L A28 A AE
X BRERBERESET B
RAUNEMNERAEERDAE+ER
FREMEFREITE - TEERARF
EEZETE EBETBERERRRHR
BRHBAZEmE ERRE AR RE
LERBAARRRED 2 FHRHEHRA
RABRMEBE=ZEZR=E -

NR-BBAFR-B—BF=f
=+ -8 —TT=ERRETET
A 9 14 5K 4T 6 2 SR o



48.Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
scheme for qualifying employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The Group’s employees who are employed by subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$441,000 (2009:
HK$705,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period. As at 31 March 2010, no contribution was due in
respect of the reporting period had not been paid over to
these schemes.

48.
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iR AR & R 5T &)

AEBRARRNEFREHBARZ
FEBREELEMANMERATES (=
Be)atd-REeHEZEET
BURAEE WERAESZES
ABRE - AEERERLIEXRALZ
5%l 7% at &) 5K R B 2 R
R

XERTEMBARZAEERER
h BIBR A P2 i 2 Bl R E IR AR K AR A
AERE - REHBARAKIAER
T B2 ERZRKEFIF & 2 #t
o RBAREHES ANEEHZE
PRAG R &) 2 ASE(E BIER R E 2

Eon
oA °

Bm A Z @K A441,000% T
(ZZZ N9 :705,000/8 T ) f§ K&
B A BEEZETEEA 237
KR -_E—ZTF=-ZA=+—H 1
MR AREZ SR B R R 3R AR
2 BIERfHE Ko
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49.

50.

Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were
pledged by the Group to secure banking and other financing
facilities:

49. EEE M

REEREIR - A EH T 5 & EHE
ERRITREMBEEE ZER:

2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FAET
Interests in associates BN B ERS - 68,058
Investment properties REME 221,000 158,000
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 84,392 11,139
Investments held for trading FIEEBIRE = 2,754
305,392 239,951

. . Y S 4= S 2
Transactions and Balances with 50. BB A LET 2R RHE

Related Parties

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with
the following related parties, together with balances with
them at the end of the reporting period, details of which are
as follows:

[ 45 R

AEBRAFEETIIREANTETT
ZEARR G RN EBEHRIMRZ EHRFHIT

LN

2010 2009
—E-BF —EENF
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FABT
Associates: iR /NT I
Interest income B A 93 95
Management fee income BEEBUA 600 2,952
Related companies: RAE AT
Interest expenses FMEFZH 6,130 11,981
Interest income F B WA 9,768 22,030
Rental expenses HeZ 475 452
Rental income Eae U A 5,013 3,549




50.Transactions and Balances with

Related Parties (Continued)

The related companies for both years are (i) the Company’s
substantial shareholder and (ii) the companies in which the
Company's substantial shareholder has beneficial interest.

During the year, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement with ITC Properties to dispose of the
unlisted securities at a cash consideration of HK$76,300,000.
The disposal was not yet completed at the date of approval for
the issuance of the financial statements.

On 19 March, 2009, the Company issued 150,091,764 new
shares with 40,024,470 warrants at HK$0.35 per share in open
offer to ITC Corporation Limited, a substantial shareholder of
the Company.

In addition, certain banking and other facilities of the Group
were secured by personal guarantee from a director of the
Company, to the extent of HK$3,477,852 at 31 March 2009.

Financial guarantee contracts are granted by the Group to its
associate amounting to HK$75,000,000 (2009: Nil) to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the associate.

Details of balances with related parties/associates at the
end of the reporting period are set out in notes 31 and 32
respectively.
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0. BEFBE AT EIT 2R 5 RH

BAAEER ()

RZMIEFE ZBERRBGHARR
ZEBBEREGARRZEBZBRRR
HpaEaED Z A

RAFE AEBEEEFMEIVE
BHEEHEALEIELTES B
% K18 /A76,800,000/8 T - 2 IEH &
RAFERREATIZAHE KT
E‘Z °

RZZFEZNF=ZA+IB ARAR
NABEEREFRO3ISBLAARD
AZEEREEFLELEBREARA
A1 %£17150,091, 764 F A% 10 (B2 &
40,024,47010 R HERE ) ©

N RZEENF=ZA=+—8"
AEBZETROIKEMEEHRR
NA—HREFREBEEAER 284
3,477,852/ T

AEBREBLRRBEUARERT
BENRZETRITEEZVBER
& #1458 /475,000,000 T (—ZBF
pARCSRE: I

REREAREREAL BERRZ
REERFFIE D BB M RE31 )32
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50.Transactions and Balances with
Related Parties (Continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and key executives of the
Group is determined by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends,

amounted to HK$7,514,000 (2009: HK$8,717,000).

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or significant

balances with them at the end of the reporting period.

51.Summary Financial Information of

the Company

50. BEHEFE A THET 22X F & H

BAGER (&)
TEERASEMH

AEBEERETBITRABHFMNEE
WEEeRSEREZTERBERT
BB ET 8% A7,514,000%8 T
(ZZEZA4F:8,717,0008 L) °

B b PRI ER & S - F NI B R R
ATETEMBEARS  MN AR
RIFEB NAEER

51. AR B ERBE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EETNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Total assets BERHAE 3,404,843 3,306,148
Total liability BERE 1,350,677 1,378,107
2,054,166 1,928,041

Capital and Reserves BEARREE
Share capital [ 5,614 4,010
Reserves i 2,048,552 1,924,031
Total equity MR ETE 2,054,166 1,928,041




52.Events after the Reporting Period

The Group has the following significant events subsequent to
the end of the reporting period:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

On 29 April 2010, a 57.26% owned subsidiary of the
Group voted for the return of capital to its shareholders
by way of members’ voluntary liquidation. Details are set
out in the Group’s announcement dated 29 April 2010.
The transaction has not yet completed at the date of
approval for the issuance of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement made on 4
June 2010, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement to acquire 40% equity interest
in Best Smooth and Shareholder’s Loan and 3% equity
interest in Ally Fortune Investments Limited, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Best Smooth at a total consideration
of HK$470,000,000. The transaction has not yet
completed at the date of approval for the issuance of the
financial statements.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement made on 16
July 2010, the Group will make an offer to repurchase its
2% convertible loan notes due 2011 with an aggregate
outstanding principal amount of HK$706,698,786 at
their face value. The purchase price is to be satisfied
by the issue of shares at HK$0.5 each, credited as fully
paid. The issue of shares is subject to the approval of its
shareholders (other than ITC Corporation Limited and
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles who are interested in the
convertible loan).
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52. RRRERE

AEBERBERARE ZEREFAL

T

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RZZE-—TFOA-+NAE " —
AR EEEA57.26% % 2 Mt
BRrRRERBABRERE
BITARMARFEREER -FHIF
R AEER_ZT—TFNA
“thBTEEZ R o R
WREETIERH  ZIAR SN
RFERK

BERAATAR-_E—ZTEANA
MAFEZ G NEEEZ
—BHEKGEE R AKE
BIEZ40% B A EERRRE
TARBEREBERAR (B
IEZ k2 EMEBRT)Z3%K
iz #X{8 %470,000,000
BT e RABI I R R E A IR
B ZBERHHATK -

BERAATINR-_ZE—ZFE+ A
+RBRBEZ K AEEHE
RIEER BRABEELACHESE
706,698,786/ 8L L —F——F
FHREA B ERER ZEE
BEHER -BEERERBZRER
&5 0.58 L 1T ARIIER B
AR 1D B8 - BT D B R ER
H(RARBRERPHEEERY
BECEEBRERA A REREA
BRI LRRIN) BEfE
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53.Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries

Bt ¥ o AR MY &

For the year ended 31 March 2010 # Z —

—FE= A —AUFE

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2010 and 31 March 2009 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital

i
jLEH

|\|~>i1

T
+

NAIZFHIE

Equity interest
attributable
to the Group

an

53. TEMB AR 2515

A=
B ARBIZEEW
.

Principal activities

sMAL ERARMRKE, AEEEAE
Gl Pk BRBY ERER BARE TERH
Island Town Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% Investment property
fm & AR A A 5% 1007 7T holding
BBEEREME
MRI Holdings Limited (“MRI")  Australia A$31,184,116 57.26% Investment holding
(note a) BN 31,184,162 7T ®EER
MRI Holdings Limited
(IMRI) (Hizta)
Hanny Magnetics Limited Hong Kong HK$1,100,000,200 100% Investment holding
BEMAFR A A G ordinary shares BEER
HK$6,000,000
5% non-voting
deferred shares
(note b)
1,100,000,2007% T
LA
6,000,000/ 7£5%
EIRERRLTR,
(FifzEDb)
W SR BB K SRR PRC RMB76,980,000 59.75%  Water supply business
BR A (note ¢) F AR #76,980,0007T K ERB
IR T AR KBE AR A
(KtiEc)
REm=E8ENeg PRC RMB 1,000,000 100%  Sand mining business
B A (note c) T AR #1,000,0007T RO EH
RxmeEeEZNESERAH
(Hfetc)
Best Smooth (note d) BVI Us$100 60% Investment holding
BIE(Hidd) RBREARS 100% 7T "EER
Guangzhou Jixiang PRC US$17,180,000 60.80% Development of
(note ¢, d) i 17,180,000F JT properties for sale

BMNER (Hitc d)

FEMEUHEE

T-ERZEZT



53.Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries
(Continued)

Notes:

a. MRI operates both in Australia and Hong Kong and its shares are
listed on the Australia Stock Exchange. MRI and its subsidiaries
are mainly engaged in securities holding activities.

b. The holders of the 5% non-voting deferred shares are not
entitled to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meetings of the company. The non-voting deferred shares
practically carry no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

c These companies are registered in the form of foreign
investment enterprises.

d. These companies are newly acquired during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the result of
the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group at the end of the year. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particular of excessive length.
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53. 2N B R 215 (&)

Hret

a. MREEMRFBLE  HiRHEE
MEHZZ 5P T = MRIKRE
AZETBEXBRFBEES-

P

b. S5%EBRERELERMN ZFEAE
REDMZARERNRRAG ZBE
FHFEREHAR G LRE-BRE
REE T B B R £ 30 S BT A (E AT 4
NIRRT B ESEMD
K

¢ RERANIBRELERAE

d. ZERANRKFEFBA-

ERINS 2 AEEMB AR HNES
AREIBEFEAREFAZRELRE
RARBFREEFEERBLO A
A-BEAR HUREAMMEARS
BYREBNTR-



175 Hanny Holdings Limited $#EEEER LA

Financial Summary
BHREE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and AEBREBEE_ZT-—TEF=A=+—HIE
liabilities of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 March  FRAFEESFEHEAXEREERBE M

2010 is set out below: ZHNRTX:
(a) Results (a) ¥4

Year ended 31 March
HEZ=A=1+-HLFE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ZETRE ZTTLF —ZTENF —ZETNF ZZE-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAT FAT FAT THERT

Revenue 'ON 316,638 358,573 153,969 49,309 74,530
(Loss) profit before income tax BRETEEAT (B1R) &R (144,092) (23,967) 192,749 (1,172,639) 190,397
Income tax (expense) credit R (AX)ER (4,331) (32,457)  (144,763) 32,999 9,846
(Loss) profit for the year from FAREBHELEERZ
continuing operations (BR)HN (148,423) (56,424) 47,986  (1,139,640) 200,243
Profit for the year from FAREBCRIERLER 2
discontinued operations i A 52,419 1,517,926 - - -
(Loss) profit for the year FRN(EE)RF (96,004) 1,461,502 47,986  (1,139,640) 200,243
Attributable to: AT AT :
Owners of the Company RAREAR A 8,915 527,080 129,110  (1,145,222) 188,731
Minority interests DER R (104,919) 934,422 (81,124) 5,582 11,512
(96,004) 1,461,502 47,986  (1,139,640) 200,243
- - - - ;m E
(b) Assets and liabilities (b) EERAE
At 31 March
R=B=+—-H
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

—ZERFE —TTLFE —ZTTN\F _TTNF ZB-ZF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET THET

Total assets BERE 4,193,180 5,007,707 5,193,985 3,618,938 4,290,979
Total liabilities EREvat (1,973,857) (1,808,595) (1,426,384) (1,176,440) (1,660,667)

2,219,323 3,199,112 3,767,601 2,442,498 2,630,312

Equity attributable to RARHEEAEEER
owners of the Company 1,868,889 2,492,490 3,089,010 2,004,535 2,475,361
Minority interests DHREE % 350,434 706,622 678591 437,963 154,951

2,219,323 3,199,112 3,767,601 2,442,498 2,630,312




REGISTERED OFFICE si=E
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL OFFICE FEW=ER

Unit 3101, 31st Floor, Bank of America Tower,
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
BEAPREBRE12WERBITHOI1EII0IE
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